Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

ELSEVIER

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

Algae as potential feedstock for the production of biofuels and valueadded products: Opportunities and challenges



Manish Kumar^a, Yuqing Sun^a, Rashmi Rathour^b, Ashok Pandey^c, Indu Shekhar Thakur^b, Daniel C.W. Tsang^{a,*}

^a Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong, China

^b School of Environmental Sciences, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi 110067, India

^c CSIR-Indian Institute of Toxicology Research, 31 MG Marg, Lucknow 226 001, India

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Critical analysis of pathways involves in bio-valorization of algal biomass.
- Mass of 1 kg oils extracted from algal biomass can produce 1 kg biodiesel.
- The yields of biochar per unit dry weight of algal biomass are in the range of 8.1–62.4%.
- The foremost challenges in production of 3rd generation biofuel are its noncost effectiveness.



ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 November 2019 Received in revised form 14 January 2020 Accepted 3 February 2020 Available online 05 February 2020

Editor: Huu Hao Ngo

Keywords: Algal biomass Biofuels production Sustainable biorefinery Bio-based chemicals Waste management/recycling

ABSTRACT

The current review explores the potential application of algal biomass for the production of biofuels and biobased products. The variety of processes and pathways through which bio-valorization of algal biomass can be performed are described in this review. Various lipid extraction techniques from algal biomass along with transesterification reactions for biodiesel production are briefly discussed. Processes such as the pretreatment and saccharification of algal biomass, fermentation, gasification, pyrolysis, hydrothermal liquefaction, and anaerobic digestion for the production of biohydrogen, bio-oils, biomethane, biochar (BC), and various bio-based products are reviewed in detail. The biorefinery model and its collaborative approach with various processes are highlighted for the production of eco-friendly, sustainable, and cost-effective biofuels and value-added products. The authors also discuss opportunities and challenges related to bio-valorization of algal biomass and use their own perspective regarding the processes involved in production and the feasibility to make algal research a reality for the production of biofuels and bio-based products in a sustainable manner.

© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* dan.tsang@polyu.edu.hk (D.C.W. Tsang).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137116 0048-9697/© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Types of biofuels based on feedstock
3.	Cultivation of algal biomass for biofuels and co-products
4.	Processes for the conversion of algal biomass to 3rd generation biofuels and co-products.
	4.1. Lipid or oil extraction from algal biomass
	4.2. Transesterification of lipids or oil
	4.3. Pretreatment and saccharification of algal biomass
	4.4. Microbial fermentation of algal biomass
	4.5. Anaerobic digestion of microalgal biomass
	4.6. Hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) of algal biomass
	4.7. Gasification of algal biomass
	4.8. Pyrolysis of algal biomass
5.	Biofuels and bioproducts obtained from the biovalorization of algal biomass
	5.1. Biomethane
	5.2. Biodiesel
	5.3. Bioethanol
	5.4. Biochar (BC)
	5.5. Pigments, nutraceuticals, and functional foods
6.	Opportunities and challenges in the production of biofuels and value-added products from algal biomass
7.	Conclusions
Ack	nowledgement
Refe	erences

1. Introduction

Energy demands are increasing worldwide due to industrialization and modernization, leading to the over exploitation of limited available natural fuel reserves (Kumar et al., 2019; Kumar and Thakur, 2018). The production of bioenergy from biomass has recently gained attention due to the availability of biomass, the limited availability of fossil fuels, and the increasing concentration of carbon dioxide (CO₂) and other greenhouse gases (GHGs) in the environment (Kumar et al., 2018; Thakur et al., 2018). The search for alternate clean energy technologies to meet future energy demands is a major challenge considering the increasing GHG emissions and socioeconomic stability (Kumar and Thakur, 2018), imposing challenging questions about the development and adoption of new technologies for the production of biofuels and value-added products from biomass (Abdullah et al., 2019).

The production of biofuels from different biomasses concerns not only its production but also its cost-effectiveness, environmental sustainability, and minimization of waste generation during the operation (Srivastava, 2019; Kumar et al., 2016). Biofuels will play crucial roles in the near future by targeting the large fuel market and maintaining global energy security (Abdullah et al., 2019). Presently, the contribution of fossil fuels is nearly 70% of the total worldwide energy market, compared to the worldwide electricity demand, which contributes only 30% (www.iea.org, 2018). The importance of fuels is very well understood, but presently most technologies are under development for the generation of electricity from CO₂-free energy sources, such as photovoltaic, nuclear, geothermal, wind, wave, and hydroelectric sources (www.worldenergy.org, 2016; Medipally et al., 2015). Assuming the above circumstances, we can apply the potential use of biomass for the production of valuable fuels such as electricity, liquids or gaseous fuels. Various potential feedstocks have been used for the production of biofuels to reduce the dependency on conventional fossil fuels (Abdullah et al., 2019; Shuba and Kifle, 2018; Cao et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2019). The production of 1st generation biofuels is mainly dependent on the biomass of plants such as corn, soybean, sugarcane, and oilpalm, among others (Shuba and Kifle, 2018; Chen et al., 2017; Yu and Tsang, 2017), but simultaneously their application also creates ecosystem damage, water crises, and food vs fuel debates. Considering the problems related to 1st generation biofuels, the 2nd and 3rd generations have become alternative options, which are respectively produced from waste materials (plant and agricultural waste, municipal sludge) and microorganisms without disrupting the natural environment (Shuba and Kifle, 2018; Kumar et al., 2016, 2018).

Microorganisms such as cyanobacteria, bacteria, and microalgae can be applied as potential feedstocks for the production of biofuels and biomaterials in a cost-effective and sustainable manner, and they provide the opportunity to replace societal demands for fossil fuels (Abdullah et al., 2019; Shuba and Kifle, 2018; Kumar et al., 2017b). Most algae are aquatic photosynthetic organisms, but a few are terrestrial. They can produce biomass that is mainly composed of lipids, carbohydrates, and proteins using sunlight and CO₂ (Panahi et al., 2019). It has been estimated that 1.83 kg of CO₂ is required to produce 1 kg algal biomass (Khan et al., 2018). Numerous advantages makes algae and cyanobacteria potential candidates for the production of biomaterials and biofuels, such as (1) the use of water as an electron donor to perform oxygenic photosynthesis, (2) very high per-acre biomass productivity compared to oily seed crops, (3) ability to resolve food vs fuels debates as they are a nonfood feedstock, (4) no requirement for arable and productive agricultural land for cultivation, (5) adaption to growth in brackish water, seawater, and wastewater, and (6) production of a diverse range of products (De Bhowmick et al., 2019; Khan et al., 2018; Shin et al., 2018; Nguyen and Hoang, 2016). Several investigations have confirmed the ranges of fuels produced by algae and cyanobacteria, such as biohydrogen (H₂), fatty acids for the production of biodiesel and jet fuel, gasoline from hydrocarbons and isoprenoids, and bioethanol from algal extracted carbohydrates (De Bhowmick et al., 2019; Khan et al., 2018). Additionally, whole algal biomass can also be utilized in the production of syngas by the Fischer-Tropsch process, H₂ and methane (CH₄) production by hydrothermal gasification (HTL), CH₄ production by anaerobic digestion, and electricity production by co-combustion (De Bhowmick et al., 2019; Shuba and Kifle, 2018). Hence, for the future production of sustainable bioenergy and biomaterials, algae can be applied as a potential feedstock. In this context, several published research studies and reviews describe the technologies applied in the biovalorization of algal biomass, but its economic feasibility remains a challenge. Prior to scaling up this technology, several challenges, including biotechnological, economic, and environmental issues, must be overcome.

Considering the above discussion, the focus of the present review is to provide a framework for the use of microalgae as a potential source of future biofuels and value-added products (biohydrogen, bioethanol, biodiesel, biomethane, BC, and pharmaceuticals). A detailed discussion is provided regarding the methods involved in the conversion of algal biomass to biofuels and co-products, along with opportunities and challenges.

2. Types of biofuels based on feedstock

Increasing energy demands, especially in industrial and transportation sectors; rising fuel prices; environmental pollution; and limited availability of fossil fuel reserves have led to the development of various social, economic, and environmental issues (Mathimani et al., 2019; Thakur et al., 2018; Nguyen and Hoang, 2016). To address these issues, communities worldwide must develop sustainable and ecofriendly biomaterial production technologies with a major emphasis on biofuel (Kumar and Thakur, 2018). Compared to conventional energy sources to meet and fulfil energy demands, such as solar, water, wind, and nuclear power, the production of bioenergy from biomass is gaining more attention due to the production of biofuels along with other high-end products and oleochemicals by applying a biorefinery approach (Michalak et al., 2019; www.worldenergy.org, 2016). Based on the feedstock, three generations of biofuels have been developed. The 1st generation biofuel was produced from oleaginous plants parts such as seeds grains, among others (Kuila and Sharma, 2017); the fuels produced from nonedible plants or their parts and from municipal, industrial, and household waste are called 2nd generation biofuels (Abdullah et al., 2019); and 3rd generation biofuels are based on bioenergy generated from microorganisms such as microalgae or macroalgae and cyanobacteria (Khan et al., 2018).

The microalgal biomass, which is mainly composed of carbohydrates and lipids, is produced by sunlight light, CO₂, and certain micronutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium. These carbohydrate and lipid components are raw materials for the production of a range of biofuels and biomaterials (Robak and Balcerek, 2018). Additionally, a small amount of hemicellulose and negligible lignin in the algal biomass escape the pretreatment process and enhance its hydrolysis and fermentation efficiency (Chandra et al., 2019). Moreover, along with biofuel production, algal biomass can also be used in the production of human nutrients, biofertilizers, animal feed, and waste water treatment (Mathimani et al., 2019; Behera et al., 2015). Due to the oleaginous nature of the algal biomass compared with oil seed plants, it is a forthcoming candidate for the production of biofuels and biomaterials by the adoption of various processes and technologies, as described in detail below.

3. Cultivation of algal biomass for biofuels and co-products

Cultivation of algal biomass can be performed by three approaches: photoautotrophic, heterotrophic, and mixotrophic methods (Hammed et al., 2016). There are three essential requirements in the photoautotrophic mode of algal cultivation: the source of carbon (CO_2) , energy (light), and nutrients, by which CO₂ is converted into chemical energy (Nie et al., 2019). The sources of carbon and light are the key factors influencing the maximum algal growth. Microalgae use atmospheric CO₂ as the sole carbon source, so it is highly recommended that the cultivation zone be closer to power plants or factories (Nie et al., 2019). In comparison to the photoautotrophic cultivation method, the heterotrophic mode of cultivation uses a diverse range of organic compounds as sources of carbon as well as energy (Wang et al., 2014). The heterotrophic approach of algal cultivation mainly requires water, a carbon source and an inorganic salt source (Venkata Mohan et al., 2015). The main advantage of the heterotrophic approach is that no external light source is required, which overcomes the light limitation of the photoautotrophic approach (Liang, 2013). Zheng et al. (2012) reported that, in comparison to photoautotrophic cultivation, heterotrophic cultivation produced better growth and a higher yield. Nevertheless, the heterotrophic mode of cultivation has also demonstrated some limitations such as the following: (i) the process is not cost-effective due to the cost associated with the carbon source; (ii) not all microalgae can be cultivated via heterotrophic processes; (iii) there is a higher chance of contamination (Zhan et al., 2017; Nie et al., 2019). Microalgae can also be cultivated via the mixotrophic method, which combines photoautotrophic and heterotrophic cultivation (Nie et al., 2019). Hence, both inorganic and organic components can be applied this process. In comparison to the other two approaches, the mixotrophic approach overcomes the light limitation as well as the carbon source issue of the phototrophic method; additionally, this method reduces the generation time and enhances the yield of biomass (Wan et al., 2011). The energy efficiency of the mixotrophic method is better than the phototrophic method but poorer than the heterotrophic method, and the mixotrophic method requires a light source, CO₂, and an organic carbon source and oxygen supply (Lowrey et al., 2015; Zhan et al., 2017).

4. Processes for the conversion of algal biomass to 3rd generation biofuels and co-products

There are several pathways reported in the literature for the conversion of algal biomass into ranges of biofuels and value-added biomaterials, depending on the feasibility and cost-effectiveness of the process (Fig. 1). The feasibility of high-end products and biofuel production from algal biomass is mainly governed by effective extraction methods (Marrone et al., 2018; Shin et al., 2018). An effective extraction process should be more specific towards the extraction of particular bioproducts and simultaneously minimize impurities.

4.1. Lipid or oil extraction from algal biomass

The microalgal cell wall is enriched with fatty acids and lipids compared with that of higher animals and plants. Several methods can be applied to extract oils or lipids from algal biomass, such as physical, chemical, mechanical, and enzymatic (biological) methods (Fig. 2) (Shin et al., 2018; Ramanathan Ranjith Kumar et al., 2015; Li et al., 2014). The extraction of lipids by frequently used solvent extraction methods at the commercial level is not eco-friendly or economical, has adverse effects on human health, and changes the inherent quality of the end products (Kapoore et al., 2018). Ryckebosch et al. (2012) applied various solvent ratios for the extraction of lipids from four different algal biomass and reported that a 1:1 chloroform:methanol ratio (v/v) provided comparatively better yield. Other well-known, efficient traditional lipids extraction techniques include simple and cryogenic grinding with the help of liquid nitrogen, but they are not economical at the commercial level (Kapoore et al., 2018). In overall known mechanical lipid extraction methods, bead milling is considered the most efficient method because it has been applied to extract lipids from algal biomass with an optimal bead size of 0.5 mm (Kapoore, 2014). Nevertheless, this technique was ineffective for the extraction of lipids from Chlorella vulgaris biomass (Kapoore et al., 2018). The bead beating method is frequently used at the laboratory scale, and similarly agitated beads are applied at the commercial level for lipid extraction (Gong and Bassi, 2016). Nevertheless, the application of beads on a large scale makes the process of lipid extraction more complex and requires further processing; additionally, overheating is a major drawback of this method (Gong and Bassi, 2016).

For the extraction of oils from soybeans, mechanical pressing is applied, but due to the smaller size of the microorganisms, this method is not very effective (Kapoore et al., 2018). Autoclaving as well as homogenization methods have been recommended at smaller scales, but at the large scale these methods are again considered noneconomical (Gong and Bassi, 2016). Soxhlet is possibly the most commonly employed method for oil and lipid extraction from food biomass, as well as nutrient and chemical extraction from plant biomass (Kapoore et al., 2018). The use of toxic solvents in large amounts, longer



Fig. 1. Pathways for conversion of algal biomass in to biofuels and value-added products.

extraction times, and lower lipid yields make the process unfeasible (Mercer and Armenta, 2011). Several biological and chemical methods have been applied to avoid the application of toxic chemicals, but they also have several challenges such as the questionable purity of the end products, thus requiring further downstream processes (Kapoore et al., 2018). Several biological catalysts, such as pectinases, xylanases, and cellulase, are applied, but sometimes their lower catalytic activity and the economics of the processes are again challenging (Gong and Bassi, 2016).

To efficiently extract lipids from biomass, several innovative physical methods have been applied to date, such as supercritical fluid extraction (SFE) (Khaw et al., 2017), pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) (Gilbert-López et al., 2017), the nanosecond pulse electric field (nsPEF) (Hosseini et al., 2018), ultrasound-assisted extraction (Nogueira et al., 2018), and microwave-assisted extraction (de Moura et al., 2018). SFE has been recommended as an ecofriendly technology for the extraction of fatty acid components from biomass, in which CO₂ is applied as a solvent under supercritical conditions; similarly, PLE has also been applied for the extraction of polar and nonpolar lipids from oat and corn at high pressure using a diverse range of solvents (Esquivel-Hernández et al., 2017). Nevertheless, neither SFE or PLE are recommended for large scale application due to the increased energy requirements to maintain the higher operational temperature and pressure; additionally, this operation leads to degradation of the quality of end products at higher temperatures (Gil-Chávez et al., 2013). Hosseini et al. (2018) reported the extraction of the oil from Botryococcus braunii using nsPEF. Experimental findings suggested that 50 pulses with 16.7-J/mL energy consumption were sufficient for oil extraction, showing that the pulsed power approach could be used as an appropriate physical method for the extraction of oil; however, its large-scale application has not been evaluated. The operational frequency range of ultrasound is 20–100 MHz, which leads to the formation of cavitation bubbles, and the size of the bubbles further increases and causes cell wall rupture (Herrero et al., 2006). Bath sonication has been considered a more economically preferable option as it requires less power consumption in comparison to horn sonication (Al Hattab and Ghaly, 2015). Microwaves, compared with the traditional heating method, provide the advantage of rapid heating, and this process also dissipates less energy (Kapoore et al., 2018). The application of microwave-assisted extraction reduces extraction time and provides a better purity and yield of the products (de Moura et al., 2018). In comparison to other lipid extraction technologies, the microwave-assisted extraction method provides an eco-friendly technology by minimizing the use of solvents, and it seems to have practical feasibility for the extraction of fatty acid components and valuable chemicals from algal biomass (Kapoore et al., 2018).

4.2. Transesterification of lipids or oil

The process of transesterification of lipids or oil is performed in the presence of a chemical catalyst such as acid and alkali or a biological catalyst such as lipase along with alcohol, and the end products are biodiesel and glycerol (Kumar and Thakur, 2018; Kumar et al., 2017b; Khosla et al., 2017). Various alcohols as used as a co-solvent in the transesterification process, including methanol, ethanol, butanol, propanol, and amyl alcohol, but at the commercial level, methanol and ethanol are more preferable due to physical and chemical advantages along with cost-effectiveness (Musa, 2016). The transesterification reaction requires 3 mol of alcohol for 1 mol of fatty acid, and the end product is 3 mol of fatty acid methyl ester (FAME) along with 1 mol of glycerol as byproduct (Surendhiran and Vijay, 2012). Due to the higher density of glycerol than biodiesel, the glycerol fraction can be separated out periodically from the reaction batch to process the reaction continuously. After the reaction, it is very important to remove the methanolic, catalytic, and soap components from biodiesel by distillation and water washing; otherwise, they will create problems with engine choking and failure (Munir et al., 2013). Compared to acid catalyzed transesterification, the base catalyzed reaction is faster, resulting in reduced processing time (Kumar et al., 2017b). Feedstock that have higher free fatty acid contents and water are not recommended for base catalyzed transesterification, as the end of the reaction produces soap, which increases the cost of the downstream separation (Kumar and Thakur, 2018). To overcome the problem of base catalyzed transesterification, acid catalysis was applied, which does not produce soap and increases the efficiency of the process. However, the major challenges involved in acid catalyzed transesterification are corrosiveness of the diesel fuel, the downstream separation, and susceptibility to a high water content (Saifuddin et al., 2015). At the industrial level, the acid catalyzed reaction is unfavorable as it requires a longer reaction



Fig. 2. Various types of lipids and their extraction methods from algal biomass.

time and recovery and corrosiveness of the catalyst are challenging, making it a noncommercial process (Saifuddin et al., 2015).

Based on the number of steps involved in the production of biodiesel, the transesterification reaction comprises two types, extractive and in situ transesterification. The process of extractive transesterification involves several steps, from cell drying to disruption of cells, lipid extraction, transesterification, and finally downstream processes and biodiesel purification (Saifuddin et al., 2015). The number of steps involved in this process makes it less attractive and useless. Additionally, the feedstocks contain a greater proportion of water, which is very obvious in the case of algal biomass, making the overall process noncommercial on a large scale. In the process of in situ transesterification, the extraction of lipids and transesterification were performed in a single step, resulting in a reduced processing time and lower utilization of solvent (Kumar et al., 2017a; Tang et al., 2016). The reduced generation of waste, processing time, and energy consumption along with higher yield of products make this process more feasible at the industrial scale (Patil et al., 2012). In this process, alcohol acts as a co-solvent as well as an extraction solvent because it can penetrate algal cell membranes and facilitate the release of dissolved lipids in the reaction mixture. During industrial production of biodiesel, the release of extraction solvent in the form of gaseous smoke makes this technology non-green. Thus, another option is needed to make industrial biodiesel production less energy intensive and more eco-friendly (Patil et al., 2012).

4.3. Pretreatment and saccharification of algal biomass

The cell wall of green algae such as *Spirogyra* and *Chlorococcum* contains large amounts of sugars in the form of polysaccharides. Microalgae such as C. vulgaris comprise approximately 37-55% cell dry weight (CDW) of carbohydrates that can be applied as feedstock for the production of bioethanol (Agwa et al., 2017). The production of biofuels from these saccharide-based feedstocks via the process of microbial fermentation requires prior pretreatment and saccharification. By applying potential microbial strains that can produce amylase enzyme and induce the process of saccharification, one can also produce bioethanol via the simultaneous fermentation process (Behera et al., 2015). The processes involved in the production of bioethanol from microalgae are similar to the corn-based 1st generation biofuel, although very limited information is available to explain fermentative bioethanol production using algal biomass as feedstock (Özçimen and İnan, 2015; Harun et al., 2014). The process of pretreatment plays a very crucial role in removing unwanted material such as lignin and facilitating the release of polysaccharides from biomass, while enzymes act on these polysaccharides and convert them in to their respective monomers (Table 1) (Behera et al., 2015). Acid and alkali pretreatments of biomass are widely acceptable because they are less energy intensive, efficient processes for the removal of unwanted materials together with the release of sugar (Jankowska et al., 2017). Along with chemical pretreatments, several other methods have also been applied to make this process eco-friendlier and sustainable (de Farias Silva et al., 2018). Some other groups of polymers (fucoidan, alginate, and mannitol) present in the algal biomass require additional processing before its application in the production of bioethanol. Yanagisawa et al. (2011) explored the lignin-free content of polysaccharides in seaweeds (Ulva pertusa, Alaria crassifolia, Gelidium elegans), and these biomasses did not require any pretreatment before its hydrolysis. The Spirogyra biomass has also

Та	bl	le	1
----	----	----	---

Pretreatment methods of algal biomass for extraction of range of compounds.

	0 0 1			
Pretreatment method	Conditions	Algal biomass	Extracted compounds	References
Acid hydrolysis	Acid hydrolysis H_2SO_4 1 M, 80–90 °C, 120 min	Mix of microalgae (Scenedesmus, Chlorella, Ankistrosdemus, Micromonas, Chlamydomonas)	Carbohydrates	Castro et al., 2015
Enzymatic	Endogalactouronase 800 U/g, Esterase 3600 U/g, Protease 90 U/g, pH 6, 50 °C, 24 h	Scenedesmus obliquus	Carbohydrates	Ometto et al., 2014
Alkaline-peroxide	H ₂ O ₂ 1–7.5% (w/w), 50 °C, 1 h	Scenedesmus obliquus, Scenedesmus quadricauda, Nitzschia sp. Aphanothece sp. Desmodesmus spinosus Nitzschia palea	Carbohydrates and byproducts	Juárez et al., 2016
Hydrothermal water	1:13 (w/v), 147 °C, 40 min	Scenedesmus sp.	Glucose	Yuan et al., 2016
Acid hydrolysis	H ₂ SO ₄ 2 N, 120 °C, 30 min	Scenedesmus obliquus	Carbohydrates	Miranda et al., 2012
Ultrasound	65-130 W, 40 kHz, 25 min	Chlorococcum sp.	Carbohydrates	Halim et al., 2012
High pressure homogenization	500–850 bar, 15 min	Chlorococcum sp.	Carbohydrates	Halim et al., 2012
Bead milling	200 μL glass beads, 10 min cycles, 30 s vortexing, 30 s cooling on ice,	Synechocystis sp.	Proteins	Zhou et al., 2014
Freezing/thawing	3 cycles, 10 min freezing - 80 °C, 5 min thawing 37 °C	Synechocystis sp.	Proteins	Zhou et al., 2014
Pulsed electric field	17.9–71.7 kWh/m3, 36–54 °C	Synechocystis sp.	Cell disruption	Sheng et al., 2011
High pressure homogenization	10 mL compression chamber, 50–270 MPa, 3 °C	Nannochloropsis oculata Porphyridium cruentum	Cell disruption	Montalescot et al., 2015
Microwave	Acetone, 50 W, 56 °C, 5 min	Dunaliella tertiolecta	Pigments	Pasquet et al., 2011
Pulsed electric field and solvents	1 cm electrode distance, 45 kV/cm, Ethyl acetate/methanol/water	Ankistrodesmus falcatus	Lipids	Zbinden et al., 2013
Ionic liquid and solvent	Ionic liquid 1 h, ambient temperature, Adding hexane mixture 30 s 15 min	Chlorella vulgaris	Cell disruption and lipids	Orr et al., 2015
Pulsed electric field	15–25 kV/cm, 60–150 µs, 10–40 °C	Artrhospira platensis	Pigments	Martinez et al., 2017
Enzymatic	Cellulase 140 mg/m^2 , pH 4.6, 50 $^\circ\text{C}$, 24 h	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Carbohydrates and lipids	Fu et al., 2010

been investigated in the production of bioethanol by both direct saccharification (without pretreatment) and saccharification after pretreatment (Singh and Trivedi, 2013). The former method resulted in a 2% (w/w) higher yield than the latter one, highlighting the importance of *Spirogyra* in the production of cost-effective bioethanol.

4.4. Microbial fermentation of algal biomass

The production of biofuels such as bioethanol and biohydrogen occurs mainly by yeast fermentation and dark fermentation, respectively (Phwan et al., 2019; Wang and Yin, 2018). The production of bioethanol using yeast fermentation technology is well recognized at the commercial level. To enhance the production of bioethanol, various parameters have also been considered, such as the screening of robust strains, genetic manipulation, substrate selection and modification, along with minimum feedback inhibition at higher product concentrations (Westman et al., 2017; Gouveia, 2011). It has been estimated that 140,000 L/ha/year bioethanol can be produced from high starchcontaining microalgae, which is comparatively several times higher than other liquid fuels (Cheryl, 2010). The average sugar content found in the microalgae is approximately 40–50% of their biomass, and even the species such as *Chlorella* and *Scenedesmus* show >50% carbohydrate content (Agwa et al., 2017; Gouveia, 2011).

After algal biomass pretreatment, the next step is microbial fermentation, in which the recovered sugar is converted into bioethanol. There are two well-known fermentation processes involved in the production of bioethanol: separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) (Table 2) (Özçimen and Inan, 2015; Xiros et al., 2013). The SHF is performed independently in two separate reactors, while hydrolysis is performed in one reactor under each optimal condition and the product of hydrolysis is used as the substrate of fermentation in another reactor under each optimal condition, which is the advantage of SHF (Xiros et al., 2013). The separation of wet biomass after hydrolysis is one of the major challenges in the SHF process as it limits the yield of bioethanol (Offei et al., 2018). Additionally, investigation of C. infusionum has revealed that after reaching a certain bioethanol concentration (product), this microorganism starts using the bioethanol in place of glucose due to a change in the metabolic pathway (Harun et al., 2011). To overcome this phenomenon, the recovery of bioethanol is performed in situ, making the process continuous to enhance the yield of bioethanol. In the process of SSF, both hydrolysis and fermentation are performed simultaneously in a single reactor, reducing the problem of substrate inhibition as the glucose (substrate) is obtained during hydrolysis and is simultaneously converted to bioethanol (product). Compared to SHF, SSF is more economical due to the lower enzyme dosage required along with the higher yield (Nguyen et al., 2017). It also eliminates the chances of contamination, installation cost of the fermenter, and reduces the reaction time. The main drawback of SSF includes the uncontrolled production process, as saccharification and fermentation take place simultaneously, and the questionable reusability of substrate and enzymes, which makes the process noneconomical at the commercial level.

Biohydrogen production from microalgae through dark fermentation using groups of microbes or pure microbial strains is currently gaining attention (Table 3) (Wang and Yin, 2018; Rajhi et al., 2016). However, the production potency of biohydrogen is quite low due to complex and various reactions involved in dark fermentation. Pretreatment is an important step of this process as it converts the polymers (carbohydrate) to monomers to facilitate easy accessibility of the monomers to microbes (Behera et al., 2015). Therefore, to depolymerize carbohydrate polymers into monomers and subsequently achieve higher yields of biohydrogen from algal biomass, various physical, chemical, and biological pretreatments are typically employed in the dark fermentation process (Table 3) (Wang and Yin, 2018).

Table 2

Production of bio-ethanol from algal biomass via different fermentation processes.

Algal species	Classification	Pretreatment method	Hydrolysis	Fermentation type	Yield %	Reference
Chlorococum sp	Microalgae	Supercritical CO ₂		SHF	38 30	Harun et al. 2010
Chlorella sp.	Microalgae	Superentieur CO2	– Acid HCl/MgCl ₂	SHF	47	Zhou et al., 2011
Chlorococcum infusionum	Microalgae	– 0.75% (w/v) NaOH		SHF	26	Harun et al., 2011
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii UTEX 90	Microalgae	3% H ₂ SO ₄	$\bar{\alpha}$ -amylase + glucoamylase	SHF	29.10	Nguyen et al., 2009
Chlorococcum humicola	Microalgae	-	H ₂ SO ₄	SHF	48	Harun and Danquah, 2011
Chlorella vulgaris	Microalgae	3% H ₂ SO ₄	_	SHF	40	Lee et al., 2011
Dunaliella tertiolecta	Microalgae	-	HCl/H_2SO_4 + amyloglucosidase + endocellulase + β -glucosidase	SHF	14	Lee et al., 2013
Laminaria japonica	Macroalgae	_	endoglucanase + β -glucanase + amyloglucosidase	SSF	19.6	Lee et al., 2011
Schizochytrium sp	Microalgae	Hydrothermal treatment	Enzymatic hydrolysis	SSF	5.51	Kim et al., 2012
C. vulgaris	Microalgae	_	Cellulase + amylase	SHF	17.8	Ho et al., 2013
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii cw15	Microalgae	12 N H ₂ SO ₄	-	SHF	44	Scholz et al., 2013
Gracilaria verrucosa	Macroalgae	_	Cellulase + β -glucosidase	SHF	43	Kumar et al., 2013
Gracilaria salicornia	Macroalgae	2% H ₂ SO ₄	Cellulase	SHF	7.90	Wang et al., 2011
Saccharina japonica	Macroalgae	H_2SO_4	Cellulase + β -glucosidase	SSF	11.10	Lee et al., 2013
Gelidium elegans	Macroalgae	Meicelase	-	SHF	36.7	Yanagisawa et al., 2011
Saccharina latissima	Macroalgae	Shredding and saccharification	-	SSF	0.47	Adams et al., 2009
Laminaria japonica	Macroalgae	0.1 M H ₂ SO ₄	Cellulase and cellobiase	SHF	11.3	Ge et al., 2011
Laminaria digitata	Macroalgae	Shredding and saccharification	-	SSF	13.2	Adams et al., 2011

4.5. Anaerobic digestion of microalgal biomass

The production of biogas from microalgal biomass using the anaerobic digestion process has become an attractive and sustainable approach. The production of biogas, control of GHG emissions, and production of organic manures are the various advantages of anaerobic digestion (Paolini et al., 2018). There are mainly four steps involved in anaerobic digestion: hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis (Anukam et al., 2019), and the rate limiting step is methanogenesis. The feasibility of biogas production in its costeffectiveness, which is directly related to the production of microalgal biomass along with an efficient digestion process (Wu et al., 2019). The yield of anaerobic digestion is important depending on the cell composition of the biomass. Microalgae cultivated under limited nitrogen show more fatty compound accumulation under the cell wall, which makes the cell wall rigid and less feasible for anerobic digestion (Klassen et al., 2017). The C:N ratio plays a key role in determining the feasibility of the anaerobic process. To obtain an improved methane

Table 3

Biohydrogen production from algal biomass after pretreatment at different fermentation conditions.

	•			
Microalgae feedstock	Pretreatment	Fermentation conditions	H ₂ production	References
C. vulgaris	Hydrolytic extracellular enzyme solution	Batch, 35 °C, heat-treated anaerobic sludge	43.1 mL H ₂ /gTS	Yun et al., 2014
C. vulgaris	Cellulase, pectinase, and hemicellulose degradation	Batch, 60 °C, heat-treated anaerobic sludge	135 mL H ₂ /gVS	Wieczorek et al., 2014
Scenedesmus sp. (lipid extracted)	Heat: 100 °C, 8 h	Batch, 37 °C, anaerobic sludge	35.38 mL H ₂ /gVS	Yang et al., 2010
Scenedesmus obliquus	Heat: 121 °C, 15 min	Batch, 30 °C, Enterobacter aerogenes ATCC 13048	10.8–56.5 mL H ₂ /gVS	Batista et al., 2014
Chlorella vulgaris	1.6% HCl, 35 min	Batch, 35 °C, heat-treated anaerobic sludge	36.5 mL H ₂ /gTS	Yun et al., 2014
Cyanobacterial blooms	pH 13 (6 mol/L NaOH) for 30 min	Batch, 35 °C, heat-treated anaerobic sludge	94 mL H_2/gVS	Cai et al., 2015
Scenedesmus obliquus	Heat: 121 °C, 15 min	Batch, 37 °C, Clostridium butyricum DSM 10,702	94.3–113.1 mL H ₂ /gVS	Batista et al., 2014
Scenedesmus obliquus	Milling	Batch, 58 °C, anaerobic sludge,	0.7-15.3 mL H ₂ /gVS	Ortigueira et al., 2015
Scenedesmus obliquus	Milling	Batch, 58 °C, <i>Clostridium butyricum</i> DSM 10702, anaerobic sludge	32.7-48.9 mL H ₂ /gVS	Ortigueira et al., 2015
Scenedesmus obliquus	Ultrasonication for 15 min at 45 $^\circ\mathrm{C}$	Batch, 55 °C, heat-treated anaerobic sludge	56 mL H ₂ /g biomass	Jeon et al., 2013
C. vulgaris	Ultrasonication (100,000 J/gTS)	Batch, 35 °C, heat-treated anaerobic sludge	37.9 mL H ₂ /gTS	Yun et al., 2014
Scenedesmus sp. (lipid extracted)	Heat: 121 °C, 4 h	Batch, 37 °C, anaerobic sludge	35.58 mL H ₂ /gVS	Yang et al., 2010
Scenedesmus sp. (lipid extracted)	Base: NaOH 8 g/L, 24 h	Batch, 37 °C, anaerobic sludge	16.89 mL H ₂ /gVS	Yang et al., 2010
Chlorella sorokiniana	Chemical: H ₂ O ₂ 2%, 12 h	Batch, 60 °C, anaerobic sludge	63 mL H ₂ /gVS	Roy et al., 2015
Chlorella sorokiniana	Sonication 130 W, 10 min	Batch, 60 °C, anaerobic sludge	52 mL H ₂ /gVS	Roy et al., 2015
Cyanobacterial blooms	170 °C for 20 min	Batch, 35 °C, heat-treated anaerobic sludge	113 mL H ₂ /gVS	Cai et al., 2015

yield, it has been reported the C:N ratio of the microbial growth culture be in the range from 20 to 30 for the anaerobic digestion process (Hidaka et al., 2014). For the production of biodiesel from algal biomass, lipids or oils are raw material, and after the extraction of lipids, the remining approximately 65% of algal residue is considered waste, which is the major challenge of biofuel industries. These microalgal residues enriched with carbohydrates and proteins can be further utilized as feedstock for the production of biogas by applying anaerobic digestion processes (Fig. 3) (Uggetti et al., 2014) The residues obtained after the anaerobic digestion process are in liquid and solid forms and enriched with nitrogen and phosphorous. These residues can be utilized for agricultural fields as fertilizer to complete the biorefinery cycle of anaerobic digestion (Macura et al., 2019).

4.6. Hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) of algal biomass

HTL is a process that involves the conversion of organic material (biomass and biowaste) into oil (biofuel). In the HTL method, organic materials such as biomass and biowaste are subjected to direct liquefaction to bio-oil at temperatures below 400 °C in the presence of catalyst and water (Chen et al., 2014). The water molecules are in the supercritical state (neither liquid or gas) in this temperature range and high pressure, making the decomposition of biomass effective (Elliott et al., 2013). As there is no involvement of any toxic solvent in this process, it is environmentally friendly (Chen et al., 2014). The HTL process only consumes 10–15% of the energy produced from biomass, so its energy efficiency is very significant. The process involves the breakdown of major biomass components, such as proteins, fatty acids, and carbohydrates, into their respective monomers (Gollakota et al., 2018). Continuation of the process leads to the further removal of oxygen, sulfur, phosphorous, and nitrogen, ultimately providing lower-molecularweight hydrocarbon (Elliott et al., 2013). To achieve better product yield though HTL, several crucial parameters must be considered, such as the oleaginous microalgal strains, biomass concentration, reaction type, type of catalyst, temperature, and heating rate, among others (Gollakota et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2014).

4.7. Gasification of algal biomass

The process of gasification involves the conversion of carbon-rich feedstocks into syngas through partial oxidation in the presence of a limited supply of oxygen or air of steam at temperatures ranging from approximately 100-1000 °C. Syngas is a mixture of various gases, mainly CO₂, CO, H₂, and CH₄ (Raheem et al., 2018). Additional syngas obtained through this process can be transformed into hydrogen via the water gas shift reaction or lower range liquid hydrocarbon via Fisher-Tropsch synthesis (Sanchez-Silva et al., 2013; Raheem et al., 2017). The syngas produced at 700 °C after complete gasification of the algal species. Chlorella vulgaris using Ru/TiO2 as catalyst was found to be rich in hydrogen (Chakinala et al., 2009). The composition of syngas obtained by Duman et al. (2014) after gasification of biomass of N. occulata was 40-53% H₂, 30-40% CO₂, 10% CH₄ and 6% CO. The catalyst plays a very important role in the conversion of biomass to syngas as it improves tar degradation and facilitates hydrogen production (Akubo et al., 2019). Syngas primarily composed of CO₂, CH₄, and H₂ has been reported by Rizwan et al. (2015) upon the complete gasification of the algal sp. Spirulina platensis in the presence of Ru as catalyst. Comparative studies performed by Stucki et al. (2009) among Saccharina latissimi, C. vulgaris and S. platensis for hydrogen production reported that Saccharina latissimi provided a better yield of hydrogen in the process of gasification.

4.8. Pyrolysis of algal biomass

Pyrolysis is a well-known process for production of the carbon-rich solid-phase and volatile organic phase when the feedstock is subjected

to temperatures ranging from 400 to 800 °C. The vapor phase obtained in this process is finally converted to bio-oil and acid extract after condensation (Auersvald et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2017). The solid phase obtained after pyrolysis is porous in nature and generally called charcoal or BC (Xiong et al., 2017). The conversion of feedstock to bioproducts via pyrolysis is chemically defined as a redox reaction, in which one proportion is oxidized and the other reduced (Borole et al., 2018; Srinivasan et al., 2015). The oxidized part is then further used as starting material for the formation of organic compounds such as ketones, aldehydes, and acids via hydrolysis. Again, these compounds combine together and form more intricate organic compounds, such as polymeric substances and esters (Zhang et al., 2018). The residence time plays a crucial role in the process of pyrolysis because it influences the quantity and quality of end products. A higher temperature and longer residence time lead to the production of the incondensable gaseous phase, while a lower temperature and very high residence time result in a higher yield of the solid phase (Cao et al., 2019; Srinivasan and Sarmah, 2015; Dalmas Neto et al., 2014). During the pyrolysis of the algal biomass, char is use as an enhancer, which enhances the feedstock heating and act as an adsorbent (Gan et al., 2018). The biomass of Chlorella sp. is subjected to pyrolysis in a microwave oven and produces bio-oil making up approximately 28.6% wt/wt of the biomass (Du et al., 2011). The obtained bio-oil is composed of both aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbons, phenols, nitrogenous compounds, and higher chain fatty acids. Wang et al. (2013) reported that the bio-oil produced from algal biomass shows a poor calorific value but better oxidation stability compared with the bio-oil produced after pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass (LCB). The algal bio-oil contains dissolved solid and nitrogenous substances, which can be further upgraded by the process of cracking and hydrogenation (Raheem et al., 2018). The genus Chlorella is well known for the production of bio-oil via pyrolysis; nevertheless, the production yield varies significantly and is dependent on the pyrolytic condition and algal species (Xu et al., 2018). Rapid pyrolysis of C. vulgaris and C. protothecoides biomass was found to produce 53% and 57.9% bio-oil by weight, respectively (Lam et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2013).

5. Biofuels and bioproducts obtained from the biovalorization of algal biomass

Compared to terrestrial plants, the algal biomass is composed of more lipids and proteins. The decreased generation time, higher photosynthesis efficiency, and reduced land requirement for cultivation makes algae a potential feedstock for the production of biofuels and bio-based materials (De Bhowmick et al., 2019; Khan et al., 2018; Shin et al., 2018; Nguyen and Hoang, 2016). Generally, algae can be grouped into macro and microalgae based on their morphological appearance. Green seaweed, brown algae, and red algae belong to the macroalgae, while green algae, *Chlorella*, and *spirulina* belongs to the group of microalgae (Demirbas, 2010). Compared to macroalgae, microalgae are preferable feedstocks for biofuels and bioenergy industries due to their oleaginous nature, higher biomass generation, and simple cellular structure, although only a few species of microalgae have been utilized to date (Richmond, 2004). The various biofuels and bioproducts obtained from algae are discussed below.

5.1. Biomethane

The production of biomethane (CH₄) via anaerobic digestion of algal residual biomass is well known as it produces a mixture of gases in which the CO₂ proportion ranges from 30 to 50% and CH₄ contributes 50–70%. Typically, the production yield of CH₄ from algal biomass is in the range from 0.2–0.4 m³ CH₄/kg or 0.024–0.6 L CH₄/g VS (volatile solid), depending on the algal species and experimental conditions (Rabii et al., 2019; Milledge et al., 2019). The yield of CH₄ even varies among the same species, as reported by Milledge et al. (2019) for the production of biomethane from *Dunaliella* sp., where the yield was



Fig. 3. Schematic representation of anaerobic digestion process for bio-valorization of algal biomass.

0.063 L CH₄/g VS and 0.323 L CH₄/g VS. The production of biomethane is expressed in the form of biomethane potentials (BMPs) and is defined as the maximum volume of CH₄/g of VS produced in batch experimental tests in the laboratory (Jingura and Kamusoko, 2017). Allen et al. (2015) reported BMPs of the cast brown seaweed *Saccharina latissimi* and *A. nodosum*, and the yield was 342 L CH₄/kg and 166 L CH₄/kg of VS, respectively.

The production yield of biomethane from algal is governed by various parameters, such as temperature, biomass loading rate and volume, duration, bacterial strains, and algal cell wall composition, among others (Barbot et al., 2016; Sialve et al., 2009). Another imperative factor that highly influences the yield of biomethane is the C:N ratio (McKennedy and Sherlock, 2015). It has been estimated that the C:N ratio of the algal residual biomass is low (6-9), while mixing of the algal biomass with higher carbonaceous feedstocks have been recommended for better yields of biomethane (Mussgnug et al., 2010). Due to the low biomethane yield and higher production cost, this process must be coupled with some other biofuel and biomaterial production processes using a biorefinery approach to make the process cost-effective (Cesaro and Belgiorno, 2015). A range of biofuels is produced from algal biomass, such as biodiesel, bioethanol, biomethane, and biohydrogen, among others, in which former two are considered primary products and the latter two co-products in biorefinery production model (Wang et al., 2013). By adopting bioenergy production along with the Carbon Capture and Storage (BECCS) strategy, sustainability is projected to improve with the consideration of microalgae as potential candidates for the sequestration of CO₂ along with the production of a range of biofuels including CH₄ (Milledge et al., 2019; Xia et al., 2016).

5.2. Biodiesel

Oleaginous microalgal cells are typically composed of lipids, of which 95% are contributed by triglycerides (TAGs) and the rest are mono and diglycerides along with small amounts of free fatty acids. The fatty acid composition of algal lipids is dominated by stearic acid, palmitic acid, and oleic acid, which is similar to the biodiesel standard (Tripathi et al., 2015). To produce biodiesel, the key raw materials are oils or lipids (Fig. 4). There are several studies available that describe the production of lipids from algal biomass. Enamala et al. (2018) reported a yield of lipids from various microalgal sp. in the range from 2.40-62.0% of dry biomass. Mitra et al. (2012) reported the production of lipids from Chlorella vulgaris is in the range from 11.0-43.0% of its biomass. Scenedesmus sp. ISTGA grown in the presence of sodium bicarbonate (Na₂HCO₃) produced 20% lipids of dry biomass (Tripathi et al., 2015). In other studies, Chlorella, Haematococcus, and Scenedesmus produced lipids ranging from 14.0-18.0% in the presence of Na₂HCO₃ (Tripathi et al., 2015).

Biodiesel is produced by the process of transesterification, which has been previously described in Section 4.2. The oils and lipids extracted from the algal biomass are used in transesterification reaction, in which the ratio of alcohol to oil is either 3:1 or 6:1 in the presence of acid, alkali, or lipase (biological) as catalyst (Kumar et al., 2017a, 2017b). The end product of the transesterification reaction is methyl ester (biodiesel), and the side product is glycerol (Kumar et al., 2020), which is further separated from biodiesel. Biodiesel produced from microalgae shows a higher percentage of unsaturated fatty acid compared with saturated fatty acid, which is prerequisite for fuel engineering (Tripathi et al., 2015; Demirbas, 2008). A higher degree of unsaturation leads to better cold flow properties, but it simultaneously enhances the possibility of hydroperoxide generation, which increases polymerization, acidification, and the production of insoluble particle and jelling materials, choking the filter (Kumar and Thakur, 2018). The biodiesel produced from algal biomass should uphold American Society of Testing Material (ASTM-D-6751) and European Standard (EN-14214) norms (Mostafa and El-Gendy, 2017) (Table 4). The viscosity of algal biodiesel is 10-20 times higher than conventional diesel, and therefore blending or engine modification is an alternative option (Kumar and Thakur, 2018; Demirbas, 2008). A mass of 1 kg oil extracted from algal biomass can produce 1 kg biodiesel, which is a carbon neutral biological product (Mata et al., 2010). Applied biorefinery and biovalorization technology make biodiesel production from algal biomass cost-effective, as these processes produce multiple products from single feedstocks. As in the case of algae, the biomass left over after oil or lipid extraction can be further used directly for combustion, electricity production, and biomethane production via anaerobic digestion, as well as animal feed (Srivastava, 2019; Saad et al., 2019).

5.3. Bioethanol

Bioethanol is considered a carbon neutral fuel, which is mostly produced from plant waste material (Hanaki and Portugal-Pereira, 2018; Davis et al., 2014). Algal biomass can also be applied for the production of bioethanol using several groups of microbes, such as yeast, bacteria, and fungi, under anaerobic fermentation conditions (Robak and Balcerek, 2018; Nguyen and Vu, 2012). Currently, S. cerevisiae and Z. mobilis are considered potential microbes for the production of bioethanol via microbial fermentative processes. A specific polymer such as mannitol is present in several algal species. That requires an oxygen supply during the process of sugar to bioethanol conversion, in which case Zymobacter palmae is applied as a fermentative organism (Khan et al., 2018; Kostas et al., 2016). Agar is a polymer of galactose and galactopyranose that is present in a few groups of marine algae, and it can also be used as feedstock for bioethanol production (Offei et al., 2018). Yanagisawa et al. (2011) used S. cerevisiae IAM 4178 as a fermentative organism for the fermentation of glucan and galactan extracted from agar weed and produced 5.5% (wt/wt) ethanol. The red algal biomass was composed of polymers of glucose and galactose, which could be further depolymerized and applied in the microbial fermentation process (Behera et al., 2015). In brown seaweeds, along with glucose and mannitol sugar, approximately 14% additional polymeric carbohydrates are present as alginate (Wargacki et al., 2012). The presence of laninaran, mannitol, alginate, and fucoidan along with cellulose in a few brown seaweeds make them potential feedstock for the production of bioethanol (Ale and Meyer, 2013). The production of bioethanol after extraction of mannitol from brown seaweed has been reported by Horn et al. (2000), and the yield was 0.38 g ethanol per gram of mannitol. Simultaneous production of bioethanol and butanediol has been reported by Hon-Nami (2006) using an algal culture of Chlamydomonas perigranulata. The leftover biomass after extraction of lipids from Chlorococcum sp. was used by Harun et al. (2010) to produce bioethanol, resulting in 60% more ethanol production than the intact algal biomass. This finding supports the biorefinery approach



Fig. 4. Steps involve in production of biodiesel from algal biomass.

Table 4

Physico-chemical characteristics of biodiesel prescribe by American Society of Testing Material (ASTM- D-6751) and European Standard (EN-14214).

Parameters	Unit	Biodiesel D-6751	Biodiesel (EN14214)
Kinematic Viscosity @ 40 °C	cSt	1.9-6	3.5-5
Total acid number	mg KOH/g oil	<0.8	<0.5
Cloud point	°C	_	-4
Flash point	°C	>130	>101
Density @ 15.56 °C	g/cm ³	_	0.86-0.9
Copper strip corrosion @ 100 °C	_	No. 3 Max.	Class 1
Iodine number mg I ₂ /100 g oil	_	_	<120
Cetane number	_	>47	>51
Calorific value	MJ/kg	_	32.9
Sediment content	wt%	< 0.05	_
Water content	ppm	<300	<500
Carbon residue	wt%	< 0.05	< 0.03
Ash content	wt%	<0.02	< 0.02
Total sulfur content	wt%	<0.05	<0.01

of algal biomass for the production of bioethanol as well as biodiesel. The production of bioethanol is a less energy intensive process. Further, the CO_2 emitted during this procedure can be used again in the cultivation of algal biomass, similarly to the carbon cycle of biofuel production (Gupta and Demirbas, 2010). The algal biomass can be considered a promising feedstock for the production of bioethanol, although its commercialization is still challenging; however, technological advancements in the near future may make this process cost-effective (Khan et al., 2018).

5.4. Biochar (BC)

BC is a carbonaceous material produced by the thermal treatment of biomass at a moderate temperature under a limited supply of O_2 (Sun et al., 2019; Rajapaksha et al., 2018). The production of algal BC from wet algal biomass takes place at a moderate temperature for a short duration via the process of HTL (Gollakota et al., 2018). Compared to lignocellulosic BC, BC produced from algal biomass shows a low carbon content and reduced surface area but a higher cation exchange capacity (Michalak et al., 2019). Due to higher pH of algal BC, it could be applied as a better material to reclaim acidic soil. The higher nitrogen content and diverse inorganic elemental composition are also beneficial for maintaining good soil health (Sun et al., 2019). Furthermore, due to the presence of various specific functional groups, BC can also be applied in the removal of organic and inorganic contaminates from wastewater (Filote et al., 2019; Awad et al., 2017). The presence of specific functional groups on BC leads to better treatment capacity of soil and wastewater toxic chemicals (Shen et al., 2018; Zheng et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the availability of cost-effective raw materials along with the preparation methodology are still under development for the preparation of BC and its application in wastewater treatment (Inyang et al., 2016).

Several studies have indicated that the relative yield of algal BC is superior to other feedstocks per unit algal biomass. The yield of BC per unit dry weight of the macroalgal biomass is in the range from 8.1–62.4% (Michalak et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2017). Compared to LCB such as pine wood, plant waste, and wheat straw, the yield of algal BC is lower under a similar set of experimental conditions (Ronsse et al., 2013). The decrease in yield was observed when the pyrolysis temperature was increased from 300 to 750 °C and the pyrolysis duration from 10 to 60 min. Tag et al. (2016) observed a similar trend and postulated that such results might be due to variation in the chemical structure and composition. Additionally, the higher ash content in algal compared with plant biomass may alter the product distribution during the pyrolysis process. Recently, Salimi et al. (2019) reported the synthesis of olive-shaped magnetic BC by a slow pyrolysis process catalyzed by

iron. The synthesized magnetic BC has a high surface area $(296.4 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1})$ with an enriched carbonaceous structure that makes it appropriate for application as an electrode in Li-ion batteries. The electrochemical analysis confirmed a higher initial specific discharge capacity (740 mAh g⁻¹) and improved cyclic stability of the synthesized magnetic electrode in comparison to the BC electrode. The simultaneous production of biofuels and BC using biorefinery approaches makes this process interesting for the future expansion and exploration of algal biomass as feedstock (De Bhowmick et al., 2019). However, there are very limited investigations and reports describing the preparation of BC from algal biomass and its application, opening new avenues for researchers in this particular area (Shukla et al., 2017).

5.5. Pigments, nutraceuticals, and functional foods

The production of a single product at a time cannot control the economy of production process; in such a case, the biorefinery approach has emerged as a cost-effective technique for the production of range of products from single feedstock (Milledge et al., 2019). The algal biomass emerges as a potential feedstock for the production of multiple products, such as biofuels, pigments, and nutraceuticals, having several applications in the fields of healthcare, pharmaceuticals, and cosmetics (Table 5) (Enamala et al., 2018). Algae such as *Chlorella* have been used as direct food sources of protein for several decades. More than 20 commercial and distinguished products have been extracted from microalgae (Fig. 5).

Among the overall bioproducts obtained from algal biomass, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are the key products with several applications (López et al., 2019). PUFAs are widely applied in promoting the growth and development of the brain, heart, and vascular system, especially in children (Lee, 2013). The production of pigments from algal biomass is very common and produces a range of pigments such as chlorophyll a, b, c, phycocyanin and carotenoids (Barkia et al., 2019). Carotenoids have been used as scavengers of free radicals generated inside the body to protect the cells of the body from their harmful effects (Matos, 2017). There are several types of carotenoids, such as lutein, zeaxanthin, β -carotene, and α -carotene, which are applied as anticancer drugs in medical fields (Dickinson et al., 2017). Spirulina and Arthrospira are well known for the production of phycobilin pigments such as phycocyanin, which is used as an anti-inflammatory agent (Stanic-Vucinic et al., 2018). C-phycocyanin is directly used as a functional food obtained from Spirulina. Several microalgae produce phenolic compounds during environmental stress for survival. Spirulina can produce volatile chemicals (hydrocarbons) such as heptadecane and tetradecane, which can be used as antibacterial agents (Seddek et al., 2019). Similarly, *D. salina* can also produce β-cyclocitral and phytol, which are also volatile compounds with antimicrobial characteristics. Several products, such as sterols, proteins, vitamins, and polysaccharides, extracted from algal biomass have diverse applications in the cosmetic and pharmaceutical fields (Dickinson et al., 2017; Varela et al., 2015). Recently, microalgae have also been applied for the production of feed additives and several recombinant proteins. Dunaliella tertiolecta has been applied for the production of industrial enzymes, as well as a diverse range of value-added recombinant proteins including functional antibodies, erythropoietin hormone, and human growth-promoting hormones (Dickinson et al., 2017). Scenedesmus quadricauda produces an ultraviolet protective compound called sporopollenin when grown in raceway ponds (Priyadarshani and Rath, 2012).

6. Opportunities and challenges in the production of biofuels and value-added products from algal biomass

In the prior 25 years, an exponential increase in energy consumption (1.8%/year) has been observed by the International Energy Agency (IEA). The increasing energy demands and limited availability of fossil fuels will soon lead to a worldwide energy crisis. To fulfil global energy

12 Table 5

Potential application of pigments and vitamin extracted from algal biomass.

Products	Potential algal sp.	Application	References
Chlorophylls	All phototrophic oxygenic algae	Pharmaceutical and cosmetics (deodorant)	Koller et al., 2014
Astaxanthin	Haematococcus pluvialis,	Food additive, antioxidant	Panis and Carreon, 2016
Conthermethin	Botryococcus braunii	Product distance second and all	Mater 2017
Cantnaxantnin	zofingiensis	Food additive, tanning pills	Matos, 2017
Fucoxanthin	Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Anti-adipositas	Loredo et al., 2016
Lutein	Chlorella salina, C. zofingiensis, D.	Food additive, pharmaceutical (anti-macular degeneration), cosmetics	Nwachukwu et al., 2016; Gayathri
	salina		et al., 2016
Violaxanthin	Botryococcus braunii, Dunaliella tetriolecta	Food additive	Koller et al., 2014
Zeaxanthin	Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Food additive E161 h, animal feed, pharmaceutical (anti-colon cancer, eye	Nwachukwu et al., 2016; Eilers et al.,
		health)	2016
β -Carotene	Dunaliella salina, D. bardawil	Pro-vitamin A, antioxidant food	Koller et al., 2014
Bixin	Dunaliella salina	Food additive, cosmetics	Koller et al., 2014
Phycoerythrin	Porphyridium, cyanobacteria	Immunofluorescence techniques, labels for antibodies	Pangestuti and Kim, 2011; Tang et al.,
			2016; Han et al., 2013
Phycocyanin	Arthrospira, Spirulina	Food colorant (beverages, ice cream, sweets), cosmetics, fluorescent marker in	Henrikson, 2009; Business
		histochemistry, antibody labels, receptors	Communications Company, 2015
α -Tocopherol	Chlorella sp., Nannochlropsis oculata, Euglena gracilis	Food additive, antioxidant in cosmetics and foods	Millao and Uquiche, 2016; Pangestuti and Kim, 2011

demands with minimal environmental damage, various alternative technologies have been adopted in recent few years, such as 1st generation, 2nd generation, and 3rd generation biofuel production technology. There are mainly three types of 1st generation biofuels (i.e., biodiesel, bioethanol, and biogas), with established production technologies and large-scale production (Stafford et al., 2019; Naik



Fig. 5. Schematic representation of various type of biomaterials produces from algal biomass.

et al., 2010). Feedstocks used for the production of 1st generation biofuels belong to edible oils and other useful commodities, so their production creates a food vs fuel debate, which is the major stumbling block in the development of 1st generation biofuel technology (Satari et al., 2019). The production of 2nd generation biofuels is much more sustainable compared to 1st generation biofuels. Generally, 2nd generation biofuels are produced from LCB and waste materials (sludge, waste oils, etc.), and they provide a viable option in the sense of a true carbon neutral nature or even sometimes a carbon negative status due to reduced CO_2 emission (Gomiero, 2015). To date, 2nd generation biofuel production is not highly economical and commercialized due to several technical barriers, including the removal of lignin (pretreatment), which must be overcome before its commercialization (Satari et al., 2019).

Festel et al. (2014) modeled and predicted the production costs of 1st and 2nd generation biofuels in comparison to existing fossil fuels up to 2020, taking various influencing parameters into consideration such as feedstocks, crude oil prices, and conversion costs, among others. At the crude oil market price of €100/barrel, according to the model, the most economical biofuel is biodiesel produced from waste oil (€Cent 55/L), which is even more cost-effective than fossil fuel (\in Cent 68/L), followed by biodiesel produced from palm oil (€Cent 81/L) and bioethanol from LCB (€Cent 86/L). In 2020, presuming a crude oil market price of €150/barrel, ethanol produced from LCB (€Cent 91/L) and biodiesel produced from both waste oil and palm oil have a predicted cost of €Cent 64/L and €Cent 98/L, respectively, which is less than fossil fuel (€Cent 99/L). Furthermore, considering the market price of crude oil of €200/barrel, three types of biofuels can be considered economical in comparison to fossil fuel (€Cent 131/L): biodiesel produced from waste oil (€Cent 74/L), ethanol produced from LCB (€Cent 95/L) and biodiesel produced from palm oil (€Cent 116/L). However, this study suggested the cost-effective production of different types of 1st and 2nd generation biofuels in comparison to fossil fuels but again also raised thoughtful uncertainty regarding whether an adequate quantity of feedstock could be available to fulfil the increasing demand for energy and trigger the shift from fossil fuel to biofuels.

The 3rd generation biofuel technology is gaining attention, in which algae is used as a feedstock. Unlike 1st generation biofuel feedstock, microalgae do not impede the human food supply. The continual exploitation of conventional available energy resources is also imposing several global environmental pollution issues such as global warming, GHG emissions, oil spills, and forest fires, among others. To resolve these issues, microalgae have become a potential feedstock for the production of eco-friendly biofuels and bioproducts, as indicated in several studies. There are several befits of using algal biomass as a bioenergy precursor, such as a reduced generation time, the ability to accumulate lipids and sugars (carbohydrates), no or minimal fresh water requirements for growth, and no competition with the human food supply, among others. There are several pathways by which algal biomass is converted into different biofuels and valuable bioproducts. Apart from several advantages of microalgae as a precursor for 3rd generation biofuels and chemicals, very few successful cost-effective technologies have emerged, especially in 3rd world countries. The main hindrance to the cost-effective production of 3rd generation biofuels is the higher production costs of lipids, along with several other costs such as processing and capital investments, leading to a negative energy balance.

The integrated system or biorefinery approach, in which total algal biomass can be utilized for the production of a range of biofuels and bioproducts, has shown successful results from a techno-economical viewpoint. Following the extraction of oils and sugars from algal biomass, the left-over biomass can be subjected to the production of biohydrogen and biogas via fermentation and anaerobic digestion technology, respectively, by applying different sets of conditions and microbes. The left-over waste material from the anaerobic process can be further utilized as manure and animal feed. To make 3rd generation biofuels competitive with conventional fuels, the cost must be reduced ten times more than the existing cost. As reported by United State Renewable Fuel Standards, to fulfil the bioenergy demands of 2022, 36 billion gallons of biofuel is required from algal biomass. To produce this huge quantity of bioenergy from algal biomass, several factors must be taken into consideration, such as power consumption, water requirements in terms of both algal growth as well as downstream processes, carbon, energy, and nutrient sources for algal cultivation. Millions of tons of nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorous required for the growth of microalgae makes 3rd generation biofuel technology noneconomical. Additionally, harvesting the algal biomass and downstream processes add extra costs, which makes the process challenging from a sustainability perspective. Hoffman (2016) reported the costs associated with the production of algal biomass and 3rd generation biofuels by applying HTL downstream processing. According to his findings, the costs involved in the production of biomass and biofuel using an algal turf scrubber system were \$510/ton and \$8.34/gal and using the open raceway pond system were \$673/ton and \$6.27/gal, respectively. The fabrication of new technologies or integration with some existing technologies in such a manner with minimum waste generation and maximum outcomes is desirable, which is the main objective of many biofuel industries. It is important to identify how algal biomass can be valued (biofuels, bioactive materials, pharmaceuticals, and nutraceuticals, etc.) and how its economical production can be achieved by applying biorefinery approaches.

7. Conclusions

Algal biomass has shown tremendous potential for the production of biofuels and bioproducts in more eco-friendly, sustainable, and costeffective manners. The application of biorefinery models and integration of processes such as biodiesel, biohydrogen, and biofertilizer production makes the process more economical. The production of a range of biofuels, such as biodiesel, biohydrogen, bio-oils, and biomethane, along with solid BC and its application, has demonstrated the importance of microalgal research. Various processes, such as lipid extraction, transesterification, gasification, pyrolysis, HTL, and anaerobic digestion, along with the coupling of two or more processes, make production economical. Microwave-assisted lipid extraction technology has been shown to be a more environmentally sustainable technique by minimizing the use of solvents. The anaerobic digestion process produces biomethane and does not require any additional external energy supply, and the secondary product of the process is used as a biofertilizer to resolve water body eutrophication. The production of bioethanol via fermentation of algal biomass is less energy intensive than biodiesel production, which represents another interesting approach. Algal biomass can be considered a promising feedstock for the production of a diverse range of products, although its commercialization is still challenging. However, technological advancements in the near future may make this process commercially viable in developing countries.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare no Conflict of interests.

Acknowledgement

The authors appreciate financial support from the Hong Kong Research Grants Council (E-PolyU503/17) for this study.

References

- Abdullah, B., Muhammad, S.A.F.A.S., Shokravi, Z., Ismail, S., Kassim, K.A., Mahmood, A.N., Aziz, M.M.A., 2019. Fourth generation biofuel: a review on risks and mitigation strategies. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 107, 37–50.
- Adams, J.M., Gallagher, J.A., Donnison, I.S., 2009. Fermentation study on Saccharina latissima for bioethanol production considering variable pre-treatments. J. Appl. Phycol. 21, 569.

- Adams, J.M.M., Toop, T.A., Donnison, I.S., Gallagher, J.A., 2011. Seasonal variation in Laminaria digitata and its impact on biochemical conversion routes to biofuels. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 9976–9984.
- Agwa, O.K., Nwosu, I.G., Abu, G.O., 2017. Bioethanol production from Chlorella vulgaris biomass cultivated with plantain (Musa paradisiaca) peels extract. Adv. Biosci. Biotechnol. 8, 478.
- Akubo, K., Nahil, M.A., Williams, P.T., 2019. Pyrolysis-catalytic steam reforming of agricultural biomass wastes and biomass components for production of hydrogen/syngas. J. Energy Inst. 92, 1987–1996.
- Al Hattab, M., Ghaly, A., 2015. Microalgae oil extraction pre-treatment methods: critical review and comparative analysis. J. Fundam. Renew. Energy Appl. 5, 1–26.
- Ale, M.T., Meyer, A.S., 2013. Fucoidans from brown seaweeds: an update on structures, extraction techniques and use of enzymes as tools for structural elucidation. RSC Adv. 3, 8131–8141.
- Allen, E., Wall, D.M., Herrmann, C., Xia, A., Murphy, J.D., 2015. What is the gross energy vield of third generation gaseous biofuel sourced from seaweed? Energy 81, 352–360.
- Anukam, A., Mohammadi, A., Naqvi, M., Granström, K., 2019. A review of the chemistry of anaerobic digestion: methods of accelerating and optimizing process efficiency. PROCCE 7, 504.
- Auersvald, M., Shumeiko, B., Vrtiška, D., Straka, P., Staš, M., Šimáček, P., Blažek, J., Kubička, D., 2019. Hydrotreatment of straw bio-oil from ablative fast pyrolysis to produce suitable refinery intermediates. Fuel 238, 98–110.
- Awad, Y.M., Lee, S.-E., Ahmed, M.B.M., Vu, N.T., Farooq, M., Kim, I.S., Kim, H.S., Vithanage, M., Usman, A.R.A., Al-Wabel, M., Meers, E., Kwon, E.E., OK, Y.S., 2017. Biochar, a potential hydroponic growth substrate, enhances the nutritional status and growth of leafy vegetables. J. Clean. Prod. 156, 581–588.
- Barbot, Y., Al-Ghaili, H., Benz, R., 2016. A review on the valorization of macroalgal wastes for biomethane production. Mar. Drugs. 14, 120.
- Barkia, I., Saari, N., Manning, S.R., 2019. Microalgae for high-value products towards human health and nutrition. Mar. Drugs. 17, 304.
- Batista, A.P., Moura, P., Marques, P.A.S.S., Ortigueira, J., Alves, L., Gouveia, L., 2014. Scenedesmus obliquus as feedstock for biohydrogen production by Enterobacter aerogenes and Clostridium butyricum. Fuel 117, 537–543.
- Behera, S., Singh, R., Arora, R., Sharma, N.K., Shukla, M., Kumar, S., 2015. Scope of algae as third generation biofuels. Front. bioeng. biotechnol. 2, 90.
- Borole, A.P., Tsouris, C., Pavlostathis, S.G., Yiacoumi, S., Lewis, A.J., Zeng, X., Park, L., 2018. Efficient conversion of aqueous-waste-carbon compounds into electrons, hydrogen, and chemicals via separations and microbial electrocatalysis. FRONT ENERGY 6, 94.
- Business Communications Company, 2015. The global market for carotenoids—FOD025E. http://www.bccresearch.com/marketresearch/food-and-beverage/carotenoidsglobal-market-reportfod025e.html, Accessed date: 3 March 2017.
- Cai, J., Chen, M., Wang, G., Pan, G., Yu, P., 2015. Fermentative hydrogen and polyhydroxybutyrate production from pretreated cyanobacterial blooms. Algal Res. 12, 295–299.
- Cao, L., Yu, I.K.M., Chen, S.S., Tsang, D.C.W., Wang, L., Xiong, X., Zhang, S., Ok, Y.S., Kwon, E.E., Song, H., Poon, C.S., 2018. Production of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural from starchrich food waste catalyzed by sulfonated biochar. Bioresour. Technol. 252, 76–82.
- Cao, L., Cho, D.W., Yu, I.K.M., Wang, D., Tsang, D.C.W., Zhang, S., Ding, S., Wang, L., Ok, Y.S., 2019. Microwave assisted low-temperature hydrothermal treatment of red seaweed (Gracilaria lemaneiformis) for production of levulinic acid and algae hydrochar. Bioresour. Technol. 273, 251–258.
- Castro, Y.A., Ellis, J.T., Miller, C.D., Sims, R.C., 2015. Optimization of wastewater microalgae saccharification using dilute acid hydrolysis for acetone, butanol, and ethanol fermentation. Appl. Energy 140, 14–19.
- Cesaro, A., Belgiorno, V., 2015. Combined biogas and bioethanol production: opportunities and challenges for industrial application. Energies 8, 8121–8144.
- Chakinala, A.G., Brilman, D.W., van Swaaij, W.P., Kersten, S.R., 2009. Catalytic and noncatalytic supercritical water gasification of microalgae and glycerol. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 49, 1113–1122.
- Chandra, R., Iqbal, H.M., Vishal, G., Lee, H.S., Nagra, S., 2019. Algal biorefinery: a sustainable approach to valorize algal-based biomass towards multiple product recovery. Bioresour. Technol. 278, 346–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.01.104.
- Chen, W.T., Zhang, Y., Zhang, J., Yu, G., Schideman, L.C., Zhang, P., Minarick, M., 2014. Hydrothermal liquefaction of mixed-culture algal biomass from wastewater treatment system into bio-crude oil. Bioresour. Technol. 152, 130–139.
- Chen, S.S., Maneerung, T., Tsang, D.C.W., Ok, Y.S., Wang, C.H., 2017. Valorization of biomass to hydroxymethylfurfural, levulinic acid, and fatty acid methyl ester by heterogeneous catalysts. Chem. Eng. J. 328, 246–273.
- Cheryl, O., 2010. Algae becoming the new biofuel of choice. http://duelingfuels.com/ biofuels/non-food-biofuels/algae-biofuel.php#more-115N.
- Dalmas Neto, C.J., Sydney, E.B., Assmann, R., Neto, D., Soccol, C.R., 2014. Production of biofuels from algal biomass by fast pyrolysis. Biofuels from Algae, pp. 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59558-4.00007-3.
- Davis, S.C., Hay, W., Pierce, J., 2014. Biomass in the Energy Industry: An Introduction. BP plc, London (GB).
- De Bhowmick, G., Sarmah, A.K., Sen, R., 2019. Zero-waste algal biorefinery for bioenergy and biochar: a green leap towards achieving energy and environmental sustainability. Sci. Total Environ. 650, 2467–2482.
- Demirbas, A., 2008. Production of biodiesel from algae oils. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects 31, 163–168.
- Demirbas, A., 2010. Use of algae as biofuel sources. Energy Convers. Manag. 51, 2738–2749. Dickinson, S., Mientus, M., Frey, D., Amini-Hajibashi, A., Ozturk, S., Shaikh, F., El-Halwagi,
- M.M., 2017. A review of biodiesel production from microalgae. CLEAN TECHNOL ENVIR 19, 637–668.
- Du, Z., Li, Y., Wang, X., Wan, Y., Chen, Q., Wang, C., Ruan, R., 2011. Microwave-assisted pyrolysis of microalgae for biofuel production. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 4890–4896.

- Duman, G., Uddin, M.A., Yanik, J., 2014. Hydrogen production from algal biomass via steamgasification. Bioresour. Technol. 166, 24–30.
- Eilers, U., Dietzel, L., Breitenbach, J., Buchel, C., Sandmann, G., 2016. Identification of genes coding for functional zeaxanthin epoxidases in the diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. J Plan Physiol 192, 64–70.
- Elliott, D.C., Hart, T.R., Schmidt, A.J., Neuenschwander, G.G., Rotness, L.J., Olarte, M.V., Zacher, A.H., Albrecht, K.O., Hallen, R.T., Holladay, J.E., 2013. Process development for hydrothermal liquefaction of algae feedstocks in a continuous-flow reactor. Algal Res. 2, 445–454.
- Enamala, M.K., Enamala, S., Chavali, M., Donepudi, J., Yadavalli, R., Kolapalli, B., Kuppam, C., 2018. Production of biofuels from microalgae—a review on cultivation, harvesting, lipid extraction, and numerous applications of microalgae. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 94, 49–68.
- Esquivel-Hernández, D.A., Ibarra-Garza, I.P., Rodríguez-Rodríguez, J., Cuéllar-Bermúdez, S.P., de Jesús Rostro-Alanis, M., Alemán-Nava, G.S., Saul García-Pérez, J.S., Parra-Saldívar, R., 2017. Green extraction technologies for high-value metabolites from algae: a review. Biofuels Bioprod. Biorefin. 11, 215–231.
- de Farias Silva, C.E., Meneghello, D., de Souza Abud, A.K., Bertucco, A., 2018. Pretreatment of microalgal biomass to improve the enzymatic hydrolysis of carbohydrates by ultrasonication: yield vs energy consumption. J. King Saud Univ. Sci. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jksus.2018.09.007.
- Festel, G., Würmseher, M., Rammer, C., Boles, E., Bellof, M., 2014. Modelling production cost scenarios for biofuels and fossil fuels in Europe. J. Clean. Prod. 66, 242–253.
- Filote, C., Volf, I., Santos, S.C.R., Botelho, C.M.S., 2019. Bioadsorptive removal of Pb(II) from aqueous solution by the biorefinery waste of Fucus spiralis. Sci. Total Environ. 648, 1201–1209.
- Fu, C.C., Hung, T.C., Chen, J.Y., Su, C.H., Wu, W.T., 2010. Hydrolysis of microalgae cell walls for production of reducing sugar and lipid extraction. Bioresour. Technol. 101, 8750–8754.
- Gan, Y.Y., Ong, H.C., Show, P.L., Ling, T.C., Chen, W.H., Yu, K.L., Abdullah, R., 2018. Torrefaction of microalgal biochar as potential coal fuel and application as bioadsorbent. Energy Convers. Manag. 165, 152–162.
- Gayathri, S., Rajasree, S.R.R., Kirubagaran, R., Aranganathan, L., Suman, T.Y., 2016. Spectral characterization of β-ε-carotene-3- 3'-diol (lutein) from marine microalgae Chlorella salina. Renew. Energy 98, 78–83.
- Ge, L, Wang, P., Mou, H., 2011. Study on saccharification techniques of seaweed wastes for the transformation of ethanol. Renew. Energy 36, 84–89.
- Gilbert-López, B., Barranco, A., Herrero, M., Cifuentes, A., Ibáñez, E., 2017. Development of new green processes for the recovery of bioactives from Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Food Res. Int. 99, 1056–1065.
- Gil-Chávez, J.G., Villa, J.A., Ayala-Zavala, F.J., Basilio Heredia, J., Sepulveda, D., Yahia, E.M., González-Aguilar, G.A., 2013. Technologies for extraction and production of bioactive compounds to be used as nutraceuticals and food ingredients: an overview. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf. 12, 5–23.
- Gollakota, A.R.K., Kishore, N., Gu, S., 2018. A review on hydrothermal liquefaction of biomass. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 81, 1378–1392.
- Gomiero, T., 2015. Are biofuels an effective and viable energy strategy for industrialized societies? A reasoned overview of potentials and limits. Sustainability 7, 8491–8521.
- Gong, M., Bassi, A., 2016. Carotenoids from microalgae: a review of recent developments. Biotechnol. Adv. 34, 1396–1412.
- Gouveia, L., 2011. Microalgae as a feedstock for biofuels. Microalgae as a Feedstock for Biofuels. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 1–69.
- Gupta, R.B., Demirbas, A., 2010. Gasoline, Diesel, and Ethanol Biofuels From Grasses and Plants. Cambridge University Press.
- Halim, R., Harun, R., Danquah, M.K., Webley, P.A., 2012. Microalgal cell disruption for biofuel development. Appl. Energy 91, 116–121.
- Hammed, A.M., Prajapati, S.K., Simsek, S., Simsek, H., 2016. Growth regime and environmental remediation of microalgae. Algae 31, 189–204. https://doi.org/10.4490/ algae.2016.31.8.28.
- Han, D., Deng, Z., Lu, F., Hu, Z., 2013. In: Richmond, A., Hu, Q. (Eds.), Handbook of Microalgal Culture: Applied Phycology and Biotechnology, 2nd edn vol 23. Wiley, UK, pp. 445–456.
- Hanaki, K., Portugal-Pereira, J., 2018. The effect of biofuel production on greenhouse gas emission reductions. Biofuels and Sustainability. Springer, Tokyo, pp. 53–71.
- Harun, R., Danquah, M.K., 2011. Influence of acid pre-treatment on microalgal biomass for bioethanol production. Process Biochem. 46, 304–309.
- Harun, R., Singh, M., Forde, G.M., Danquah, M.K., 2010. Bioprocess engineering of microalgae to produce a variety of consumer products. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 14, 1037–1047.
- Harun, R., Jason, W.S.Y., Cherrington, T., Danquah, M.K., 2011. Exploring alkaline pretreatment of microalgal biomass for bioethanol production. Appl. Energy 88, 3464–3467.
- Harun, R., Yip, J.W., Thiruvenkadam, S., Ghani, W.A., Cherrington, T., Danquah, M.K., 2014. Algal biomass conversion to bioethanol–a step-by-step assessment. Biotechnol. J. 9, 73–86.
- Henrikson, R., 2009. Earth Food Spirulina. Ronore Enterprises, Hawaii.
- Herrero, M., Cifuentes, A., Ibañez, E., 2006. Sub- and supercritical fluid extraction of functional ingredients from different natural sources: plants, food-by-products, algae and microalgae: a review. Food Chem. 98, 136–148.
- Hidaka, T., Inoue, K., Suzuki, Y., Tsumori, J., 2014. Growth and anaerobic digestion characteristics of microalgae cultivated using various types of sewage. Bioresour. Technol. 170, 83–89.
- Ho, S.H., Li, P.J., Liu, C.C., Chang, J.S., 2013. Bioprocess development on microalgae-based CO2 fixation and bioethanol production using Scenedesmus obliquus CNW-N. Bioresour. Technol. 145, 142–149.
- Hoffman, J., 2016. Techno-economic assessment of micro-algae production systems. All Graduate Plan B and other Reports. 789 https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/ gradreports/789.

- Hon-Nami, K., 2006. A unique feature of hydrogen recovery in endogenous starch to alcohol fermentation of the marine microalga Chlamydomonas perigranulata. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 131, 808–828.
- Horn, H.J., Aasen, I.M., Østgaard, M., 2000. Production of ethanol from mannitol by Zymobacter palmae. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 24, 51–57. https://doi.org/ 10.30955/gnj.002949.
- Hosseini, B., Guionet, A., Akiyama, H., Hosano, H., 2018. Oil extraction from microalgae by pulsed power as a renewable source of energy. IEEE Transactions on Plasma Science 46, 3518–3523.
- https://www.iea.org/newsroom/news/2019/march/global-energy-demand-rose-by-23in-2018-its-fastest-pace-in-the-last-decade.html.
- https://www.worldenergy.org/assets/images/imported/2016/10/World-Energy-Resources-Full-report-2016.10.03.pdf.
- Inyang, M.I., Gao, B., Yao, Y., Xue, Y., Zimmerman, A., Mosa, A., Pullammanappallil, P., Ok, Y.S., Cao, X., 2016. A review of biochar as a low-cost adsorbent for aqueous heavy metal removal. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 406–433.
- Jankowska, E., Sahu, A.K., Oleskowicz-Popiel, P., 2017. Biogas from microalgae: review on microalgae's cultivation, harvesting and pretreatment for anaerobic digestion. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 75, 692–709.
- Jeon, B.-H., Choi, J.-A., Kim, H.-C., Hwang, J.-H., Abou-Shanab, R.A., Dempsey, B.A., Regan, J.M., Kim, J.R., 2013. Ultrasonic disintegration of microalgal biomass and consequent improvement of bioaccessibility/bioavailability in microbial fermentation. Biotechnol. Biofuels 6, 37.
- Jingura, R.M., Kamusoko, R., 2017. Methods for determination of biomethane potential of feedstocks: a review. Biofuel Res. J. 4, 573–586.
- Juárez, J.M., Hernando, A.L., Torre, R.M., Lanza, S.B., Rodriguez, S.B., 2016. Saccharification of microalgae biomass obtained from wastewater treatment by enzymatic hydrolysis. Effect of alkaline-peroxide pretreatment. Bioresour. Technol. 218, 265–271.
- Kapoore, R.V., 2014. Mass Spectrometry Based Hyphenated Techniques for Microalgal and Mammalian Metabolomics. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK.
- Kapoore, R., Butler, T., Pandhal, J., Vaidyanathan, S., 2018. Microwave-assisted extraction for microalgae: from biofuels to biorefinery. Biol 7, 18.
- Khan, M.I., Shin, J.H., Kim, J.D., 2018. The promising future of microalgae: current status, challenges, and optimization of a sustainable and renewable industry for biofuels, feed, and other products. Microb. Cell Factories 17, 36.
- Khaw, K.Y., Parat, M.O., Shaw, P.N., Falconer, J.R., 2017. Solvent supercritical fluid technologies to extract bioactive compounds from natural sources: a review. Molecules 22, 1186.
- Khosla, K., Rathour, R., Maurya, R., Maheshwari, N., Gnansounou, E., Larroche, C., Thakur, I.S., 2017. Biodiesel production from lipid of carbon dioxide sequestrating bacterium and lipase of psychrotolerant Pseudomonas sp. ISTPL3 immobilized on biochar. Bioresour. Technol. 245, 743–750.
- Kim, J., Um, B.-H., Kim, T., 2012. Bioethanol production from micro-algae, Schizocytrium sp., using hydrothermal treatment and biological conversion. Korean J. Chem. Eng. 29, 209–214.
- Klassen, V., Blifernez-Klassen, O., Wibberg, D., Winkler, A., Kalinowski, J., Posten, C., Kruse, O., 2017. Highly efficient methane generation from untreated microalgae biomass. Biotechnol Biofuels 10, 186.
- Koller, M., Muhr, A., Braunegg, G., 2014. Microalgae as versatile cellular factories for valued products. Algal Res. 6, 52–63.
- Kostas, E.T., White, D.A., Du, C., Cook, D.J., 2016. Selection of yeast strains for bioethanol production from UK seaweeds. J. Appl. Phycol. 28, 1427–1441.
- Kuila, A., Sharma, V., 2017. Lignocellulosic Biomass Production and Industrial Applications. John Wiley & Sons https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119323686.
- Kumar, M., Thakur, I.S., 2018. Municipal secondary sludge as carbon source for production and characterization of biodiesel from oleaginous bacteria. Bioresour. Technol. Rep. 4, 106–113.
- Kumar, S., Gupta, R., Kumar, G., Sahoo, D., Kuhad, R.C., 2013. Bioethanol production from Gracilaria verrucosa, a red alga, in a biorefinery approach. Bioresour. Technol. 135, 150–156.
- Kumar, M., Ghosh, P., Khosla, K., Thakur, I.S., 2016. Biodiesel production from municipal secondary sludge. Bioresour. Technol. 216, 165–171.
- Kumar, M., Khosla, K., Thakur, I.S., 2017a. Optimization of process parameters for the production of biodiesel from carbon dioxide sequestering bacterium. JEES 3, 43–50.
- Kumar, M., Morya, R., Gnansounou, E., Larroche, C., Thakur, I.S., 2017b. Characterization of carbon dioxide concentrating chemolithotrophic bacterium Serratia sp. ISTD04 for production of biodiesel. Bioresour. Technol. 243, 893–897.
- Kumar, M., Sundaram, S., Gnansounou, E., Christian Larroche, C., Thakur, I.S., 2018. Carbon dioxide capture, storage and production of biofuel and biomaterials by bacteria: a review. Bioresour. Technol. 247, 1059–1068.
- Kumar, M., Kumar, M., Pandey, A., Thakur, I.S., 2019. Genomic analysis of carbon dioxide sequestering bacterium for exopolysaccharides production. Sci. Rep. 9.
- Kumar, M., Rathour, R., Gupta, J., Pandey, A., Gnansounou, E., Thakur, I.S., 2020. Bacterial production of fatty acid and biodiesel: opportunity and challenges. Refining Biomass Residues for Sustainable Energy and Bioproducts. Academic Press, pp. 21–49. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818996-2.00002-8.
- Lam, M.K., Khoo, C.G., Lee, K.T., 2019. Scale-up and commercialization of algal cultivation and biofuels production. Biofuels From Algae. Elsevier, pp. 475–506.
- Lee, J.H., 2013. Polyunsaturated fatty acids in children. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 16, 153–161.
- Lee, S., Oh, Y., Kim, D., Kwon, D., Lee, C., Lee, J., 2011. Converting carbohydrates extracted from marine algae into ethanol using various ethanolic Escherichia coli strains. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 164, 878–888.
- Lee, O.K., Kim, A.L., Seong, D.H., Lee, C.G., Jung, Y.T., Lee, J.W., Lee, E.Y., 2013. Chemoenzymatic saccharification and bioethanol fermentation of lipid-extracted residual biomass of the microalga, Dunaliella tertiolecta. Bioresour. Technol. 132, 197–201.

- Lee, J., Yang, X., Cho, S.H., Kim, J.K., Lee, S.S., Tsang, D.C.W., Ok, Y.S., Kwon, E.E., 2017. Pyrolysis process of agricultural waste using CO2 for waste management, energy recovery, and biochar fabrication. Appl. Energ. 185, 214–222.
- Li, Y., Naghdi, F.G., Garg, S., Adarme-Vega, T.C., Thurecht, K.J., Ghafor, W.A., Tannock, S., Schenk, P.M., 2014. A comparative study: the impact of different lipid extraction methods on current microalgal lipid research. Microb. Cell Factories 13, 14.
- Liang, Y., 2013. Producing liquid transportation fuels from heterotrophic microalgae. Appl. Energy 104, 860–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.10.067.
- López, G., Yate, C., Ramos, F.A., Cala, M.P., Restrepo, S., Baena, S., 2019. Production of polyunsaturated fatty acids and lipids from autotrophic, mixotrophic and heterotrophic cultivation of Galdieria sp. strain USBA-GBX-832. Sci. Rep. 9, 1–13.
- Loredo, A.G., Benavides, J., Polomares, M.R., 2016. Growth kinetics and fucoxanthin production of Phaeodactylum tricornutum and Isochrysis galbana cultures at different light and agitation conditions. J. Appl. Phycol. 28, 849–860.
- Lowrey, J., Brooks, M.S., McGinn, P.J., 2015. Heterotrophic and mixotrophic cultivation of microalgae for biodiesel production in agricultural wastewaters and associated challenges— a critical review. J. Appl. Phycol. 27, 1485–1498.
- Macura, B., Johannesdottir, S.L., Piniewski, M., Haddaway, N.R., Kvarnström, E., 2019. Effectiveness of ecotechnologies for recovery of nitrogen and phosphorus from anaerobic digestate and effectiveness of the recovery products as fertilisers: a systematic review protocol. Environmental Evidence 8, 29.
- Marrone, B.L., Lacey, R.E., Anderson, D.B., Bonner, J., Coons, J., Dale, T., Downes, C.M., Fernando, S., Fuller, C., Goodall, B., Holladay, J.E., 2018. Review of the harvesting and extraction program within the National Alliance for Advanced Biofuels and Bioproducts. Algal Res. 33, 470–485.
- Martínez, J.M., Luengo, E., Saldaña, G., Álvarez, I., Raso, J., 2017. C-phycocyanin extraction assisted by pulsed electric field from Artrosphira platensis. Food Res. Int. 99, 1042–1047.
- Mata, T.M., Martins, A.A., Caetano, N.S., 2010. Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: a review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 14, 217–232.
- Mathimani, T., Baldinelli, A., Rajendran, K., Prabakar, D., Matheswaran, M., van Leeuwen, R.P., Pugazhendhi, A., 2019. Review on cultivation and thermochemical conversion of microalgae to fuels and chemicals: process evaluation and knowledge gaps. J. Clean. Prod. 208, 1053–1064.
- Matos, Â., 2017. The impact of microalgae in food science and technology. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 94, 1333–1350.
- McKennedy, J., Sherlock, O., 2015. Anaerobic digestion of marine macroalgae: a review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 52, 1781–1790.
- Medipally, S.R., Yusoff, F.M., Banerjee, S., Shariff, M., 2015. Microalgae as sustainable renewable energy feedstock for biofuel production. Biomed. Res. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2015/519513.
- Mercer, P., Armenta, R.E., 2011. Developments in oil extraction from microalgae. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 113, 539–547.
- Michalak, I., Baśladyńska, S., Mokrzycki, J., Rutkowski, P., 2019. Biochar from a freshwater macroalga as a potential biosorbent for wastewater treatment. Water 11, 1390.
- Millao, S., Uquiche, E., 2016. Antioxidant activity of supercritical extracts from Nannochloropsis gaditana: correlation with its content of carotenoids and tocopherols. J Supercrit Fluid 111, 143–150.
- Milledge, J.J., Nielsen, B.V., Maneein, S., Harvey, P.J., 2019. A brief review of anaerobic digestion of algae for bioenergy. Energies 12, 1166.
- Miranda, J.R., Passarinho, P.C., Gouveia, L., 2012. Pre-treatment optimization of Scenedesmus obliquus microalga for bioethanol production. Bioresour. Technol. 104, 342–348.
- Mitra, D., van Leeuwen, J.H., Lamsal, B., 2012. Heterotrophic/mixotrophic cultivation of oleaginous Chlorella vulgaris on industrial co-products. Algal Res. 1, 40–48.
- Montalescot, V., Rinaldi, T., Touchard, R., Jubeau, S., Frappart, M., Jaouen, P., Bourseau, P., Marchal, L., 2015. Optimization of bead milling parameters for the cell disruption of microalgae: process modeling and application to Porphyridium cruentum and Nannochloropsis oculata. Bioresour. Technol. 196, 339–346.
- Mostafa, S.S., El-Gendy, N.S., 2017. Evaluation of fuel properties for microalgae Spirulina platensis bio-diesel and its blends with Egyptian petro-diesel. Arab. J. Chem. 10, S2040–S2050.
- de Moura, R.R., Etges, B.J., dos Santos, E.O., Martins, T.G., Roselet, F., Abreu, P.C., Primel, E.G., D'Oca, M.G., 2018. Microwave-assisted extraction of lipids from wet microalgae paste: a quick and efficient method. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 120, 1700419.
- Munir, N., Sharif, N., Shagufta, N., Saleem, F.A., Manzoor, F.A., 2013. Harvesting and processing of microalgae biomass fractions for biodiesel production (a review). Sci Tech Dev 32, 235–243.
- Musa, I.A., 2016. The effects of alcohol to oil molar ratios and the type of alcohol on biodiesel production using transesterification process. Egypt. J. Pet. 25, 21–31.
- Mussgnug, J.H., Klassen, V., Schlüter, A., Kruse, O., 2010. Microalgae as substrates for fermentative biogas production in a combined biorefinery concept. J. Biotechnol. 150, 51–56.
- Naik, S.N., Goud, V.V., Rout, P.K., Dalai, A.K., 2010. Production of first and second generation biofuels: a comprehensive review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 14, 578–597.
- Nguyen, M.A., Hoang, A.L., 2016. A Review on Microalgae and Cyanobacteria in Biofuel Production. USTH, Hanoi, Vietnam.
- Nguyen, T.H.M., Vu, V.H., 2012. Bioethanol production from marine algae biomass: prospect and troubles. J. Viet. Env. 3, 25–29.
- Nguyen, M.T., Choi, S.P., Lee, J., Lee, J.H., Sim, S.J., 2009. Hydrothermal acid pretreatment of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii biomass for ethanol production. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 19, 161–166.
- Nguyen, T.Y., Cai, C.M., Kumar, R., Wyman, C.E., 2017. Overcoming factors limiting highsolids fermentation of lignocellulosic biomass to ethanol. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114, 11673–11678.
- Nie, J., Sun, Y., Zhou, Y., Kumar, M., Usman, M., Li, J., Shao, J., Wang, L., Tsang, D.C., 2019. Bioremediation of water containing pesticides by microalgae: mechanisms, methods,

and prospects for future research. Sci. Total Environ., 136080 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136080.

- Nogueira, D.A., da Silveira, J.M., Vidal, É., Ribeiro, N.T., Veiga Burkert, C.A., 2018. Cell disruption of Chaetoceros calcitrans by microwave and ultrasound in lipid extraction. Int. J. Chem. Eng. 6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9508723.
- Nwachukwu, I.D., Udenigwe, C.C., Aluko, R.E., 2016. Lutein and zeaxanthin: production technology, bioavailability, mechanisms of action, visual function, and health claim status. Trends Food Sci Tech 49, 74–84.
- Offei, F., Mensah, M., Thygesen, A., Kemausuor, F., 2018. Seaweed bioethanol production: a process selection review on hydrolysis and fermentation. Fermentation 4, 99.
- Ometto, F., Quiroga, G., Pšenička, P., Whitton, R., Jefferson, B., Villa, R., 2014. Impacts of microalgae pre-treatments for improved anaerobic digestion: thermal treatment, thermal hydrolysis, ultrasound and enzymatic hydrolysis. Water Res. 65, 350–361.
- Orr, V.C.A., Plechkova, N.V., Seddon, K.R., Rehmann, L., 2015. Disruption and wet extraction of the microalgae Chlorella vulgaris using room-temperature ionic liquids. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 4, 591–600.
- Ortigueira, J., Alves, L., Gouveia, L., Moura, P., 2015. Third generation biohydrogen production by Clostridium butyricum and adapted mixed cultures from Scenedesmus obliquus microalga biomass. Fuel 153, 128–134.
- Özçimen, D., İnan, B., 2015. An overview of bioethanol production from algae. Biofuels-Status and Perspective. Intech Open, pp. 141–162.
- Panahi, Y., Khosroushahi, A.Y., Sahebkar, A., Heidari, H.R., 2019. Impact of cultivation condition and media content on Chlorella vulgaris composition. Adv. Pharm. Bull. 9, 182. Pangestuti, R., Kim, S.K., 2011. Biological activities and health benefits affects of natural
- pigments derived from marine algae. J. Funct. Foods 3, 255–266. Panis, G., Carreon, J.R., 2016. Commercial astaxanthin production derived by green alga Haematococcus pluvialis: a microalgae process model and a techno-economic assess-
- ment all through production line. Algal Res. 18, 175–190.
 Paolini, V., Petracchini, F., Segreto, M., Tomassetti, L., Naja, N., Cecinato, A., 2018. Environmental impact of biogas: a short review of current knowledge. J. Environ. Sci. Health A 53, 899–906.
- Pasquet, V., Chérouvrier, J.R., Farhat, F., Thiéry, V., Piot, J.M., Bérard, J.B., Kaas, R., Serive, B., Patrice, T., Cadoret, J.P., Picot, L., 2011. Be study on the microalgal pigments extraction process: performance of microwave assisted extraction. Process Biochem. 46, 59–67.
- Patil, P.D., Gude, V.G., Mannarswamy, A., Cooke, P., Nirmalakhandan, N., Lammers, P., Deng, S., 2012. Comparison of direct transesterification of algal biomass under supercritical methanol and microwave irradiation conditions. Fuel 97, 822–831.
- Phwan, C.K., Chew, K.W., Sebayang, A.H., Ong, H.C., Ling, T.C., Malek, M.A., Ho, Y.C., Show, P.L., 2019. Effects of acids pre-treatment on the microbial fermentation process for bioethanol production from microalgae. Biotechnol Biofuels 12, 191.
- Priyadarshani, I., Rath, B., 2012. Commercial and industrial applications of micro algae—a review. J Algal Biomass Utln 3, 89–100.
- Rabii, A., Aldin, S., Dahman, Y., Elbeshbishy, E., 2019. A review on anaerobic co-digestion with a focus on the microbial populations and the effect of multi-stage digester configuration. Energies 12, 1106.
- Raheem, A., Dupont, V., Channa, A.Q., Zhao, X., Vuppaladadiyam, A.K., Taufiq-Yap, Y.H., Harun, R., 2017. Parametric characterization of air gasification of Chlorella vulgaris biomass. ENERG FUEL 31, 2959–2969.
- Raheem, A., Prinsen, P., Vuppaladadiyam, A.K., Zhao, M., Luque, R., 2018. A review on sustainable microalgae based biofuel and bioenergy production: recent developments. J. Clean. Prod. 181, 42–59.
- Rajapaksha, A.U., Alam, M.S., Chen, N., Alessi, D.S., Igalavithana, A.D., Tsang, D.C.W., Ok, Y.S., 2018. Removal of hexavalent chromium in aqueous solutions using biochars: chemical and spectroscopic investigations. Sci. Total Environ. 625, 1567–1573.
- Rajhi, H., Puyol, D., Martinez, M.C., Diaz, E.E., Sanz, J.L., 2016. Vacuum promotes metabolic shifts and increases biogenic hydrogen production in dark fermentation systems. Front Environ Sci Eng 10, 513–521.
- Ramanathan Ranjith Kumar, R., Hanumantha Rao, P., Arumugam, M., 2015. Lipid extraction methods from microalgae: a comprehensive review. FRONT ENERGY 2, 61.
- Richmond, A., 2004. Principles for attaining maximal mixoralgae productivity in photobioreactors: an overview. Hydrobiologia 512, 33–37.
- Rizwan, M., Lee, J.H., Gani, R., 2015. Optimal design of microalgae-based biorefinery: economics, opportunities and challenges. Appl. Energy. 150, 69–79.
- Robak, K., Balcerek, M., 2018. Review of second generation bioethanol production from residual biomass. FOOD TECHNOL BIOTECH 56, 174.
- Ronsse, F., van Hecke, S., Dickinson, D., Prins, W., 2013. Production and characterization of slow pyrolysis biochar: influence of feedstock type and pyrolysis conditions. GCB Bioenergy 5, 104–115.
- Roy, S., Kumar, K., Ghosh, S., Das, D., 2015. Thermophilic biohydrogen production using pre-treated algal biomass as substrate. Biomass Bioenergy 61, 157–166.
- Ryckebosch, E., Muylaert, K., Foubert, I., 2012. Optimization of an analytical procedure for extraction of lipids from microalgae. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 89, 189–198.
- Saad, M.G., Dosoky, N.S., Zoromba, M.S., Shafik, H.M., 2019. Algal biofuels: current status and key challenges. Energies 12, 1920.
- Saifuddin, N., Samiuddin, A., Kumaran, P., 2015. A review on processing technology for biodiesel production. Trends Appl Sci Res 10 (1).
- Salimi, P., Norouzi, O., Pourhoseini, S.E.M., Bartocci, P., Tavasoli, A., Di Maria, F., Pirbazari, S.M., Bidini, G., Fantozzi, F., 2019. Magnetic biochar obtained through catalytic pyrolysis of macroalgae: a promising anode material for Li-ion batteries. Renew. Energy 140, 704–714.
- Sanchez-Silva, L., López-González, D., Garcia-Minguillan, A.M., Valverde, J.L., 2013. Pyrolysis, combustion and gasification characteristics of Nannochloropsis gaditana microalgae. Bioresour. Technol. 130, 321–331.
- Satari, B., Karimi, K., Kumar, R., 2019. Cellulose solvent-based pretreatment for enhanced second-generation biofuel production: a review. Sustain. Energy Fuels. 311–362.

- Scholz, M.J., Riley, M.R., Cuello, J.L., 2013. Acid hydrolysis and fermentation of microalgal starches to ethanol by the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biomass Bioenergy 48, 59–65.
- Seddek, N.H., Fawzy, M.A., El-Said, W.A., Ahmed, M.M.R., 2019. Evaluation of antimicrobial, antioxidant and cytotoxic activities and characterization of bioactive substances from freshwater blue-green algae. GLOBAL NEST J 21, 328–336.
- Shen, Z., Hou, D., Zhao, B., Xu, W., Ok, Y.S., Bolan, N.S., Alessi, D.S., 2018. Stability of heavy metals in soil washing residue with and without biochar addition under accelerated ageing. Sci. Total Environ. 619 (620), 185–193.
- Sheng, J., Vannela, R., Rittmann, B.E., 2011. Evaluation of cell-disruption effects of pulsedelectric-field treatment of Synechocystis PCC 6803. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 3795–3802.
- Shin, Y.S., Choi, H.I., Choi, J.W., Lee, J.S., Sung, Y.J., Sim, S.J., 2018. Multilateral approach on enhancing economic viability of lipid production from microalgae: a review. Bioresour. Technol. 258, 335–344.
- Shuba, E.S., Kifle, D., 2018. Microalgae to biofuels: 'Promising'alternative and renewable energy, review. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 81, 743–755.
- Shukla, S., Gita, S., Bharti, V., Bhuvaneswari, G., Wikramasinghe, W., 2017. Atmospheric carbon sequestration through microalgae: status, prospects, and challenges. Agro-Environmental Sustainability. Springer, pp. 219–235.
- Environmental Sustainability. Springer, pp. 219–235. Sialve, B., Bernet, N., Bernard, O., 2009. Anaerobic digestion of microalgae as a necessary step to make microalgal biodiesel sustainable. Biotechnol. Adv. 27, 409–416.
- Singh, D.P., Trivedi, R.K., 2013. Production of biofuel from algae: an economic and ecofriendly resource. Int. J. Sci. Res. 2, 352–357.
- Srinivasan, P., Sarmah, A.K., 2015. Characterization of agricultural waste-derived biochars and their sorption potential for sulfamethoxazole in pasture soil: a spectroscopic investigation. Sci. Total Environ. 502, 471–480.
- Srinivasan, P., Sarmah, A.K., Smernik, R., Das, O., Farid, M., Gao, W., 2015. A feasibility study of agricultural and sewage biomass as biochar, bioenergy and biocomposite feedstock: production, characterization and potential applications. Sci. Total Environ. 512-513, 495–505.
- Srivastava, R.K., 2019. Bio-energy production by contribution of effective and suitable microbial system. Materials Science for Energy Technologies 2, 308–318. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mset.2018.12.007.
- Stafford, W.H.L., Lotter, G.A., von Maltitz, G.P., Brent, A.C., 2019. Biofuels technology development in Southern Africa. Dev. South. Afr. 36, 155–174.
- Stanic-Vucinic, D., Minic, S., Nikolic, M.R., Velickovic, T.C., 2018. In: Jacob-Lopes, E., Queiroz Zepka, L., Queiroz, M.I. (Eds.), Spirulina Phycobiliproteins as Food Components and Complements. Microalgal Biotechnology, 1st ed, pp. 129–149.
- Stucki, S., Vogel, F., Ludwig, C., Haiduc, A.G., Brandenberger, M., 2009. Catalytic gasification of algae in supercritical water for biofuel production and carbon capture. Energy Environ. Sci. 2, 535–541.
- Sun, Y., Yu, I.K.M., Tsang, D.C.W., Cao, X., Lin, D., Wang, L., Graham, N.J.D., Alessi, D.S., Komarek, M., Ok, Y.S., Feng, Y., Li, X.D., 2019. Multifunctional iron-biochar composites for the removal of potentially toxic elements, inherent cations, and hetero-chloride from hydraulic fracturing wastewater. Environ. Int. 124, 521–532.
- Surendhiran, D., Vijay, M., 2012. Microalgal biodiesel—a comprehensive review on the potential and alternative biofuel. Res. J. Chem. Sci. 2, 71–82.
- Tag, A.T., Duman, G., Ucar, S., Yanik, J., 2016. Effects of feedstock type and pyrolysis temperature on potential applications of biochar. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrol. 120, 200–206.
- Tang, Z., Zhao, J., Ju, B., Li, W., Wen, S., Pu, Y., Qin, S., 2016. One-step chromatographic procedure for purification of B-phycoerythrin from Porphyridium cruentum. Protein Expr. Purif. 123, 70–74.
- Thakur, I.S., Kumar, M., Varjani, S.J., Wu, Y., Gnansounou, E., Ravindran, S., 2018. Sequestration and utilization of carbon dioxide by chemical and biological methods for biofuels and biomaterials by chemoautotrophs: opportunities and challenges. Bioresour. Technol. 256, 478–490.
- Tripathi, R., Singh, J., Thakur, I.S., 2015. Characterization of microalga Scenedesmus sp. ISTGA1 for potential CO2 sequestration and biodiesel production. Renew. Energy 74, 774–781.
- Uggetti, E., Sialve, B., Trably, E., Steyer, J.P., 2014. Integrating microalgae production with anaerobic digestion: a biorefinery approach. Biofuels Bioprod. Biorefin. 8, 516–529.
- Varela, J.C., Pereira, H., Vila, M., León, R., 2015. Production of carotenoids by microalgae: achievements and challenges. Photosynth. Res. 125, 423–436.
- Venkata Mohan, S., Rohit, M.V., Chiranjeevi, P., Chandra, R., Navaneeth, B., 2015. Heterotrophic microalgae cultivation to synergize biodiesel production with waste remediation: progress and perspectives. Bioresour. Technol. 184, 169–178. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.056.
- Wan, M., Liu, P., Xia, J., Rosenberg, J.N., Oyler, G.A., Betenbaugh, M.J., Nie, Z., Qiu, G., 2011. The effect ofmixotrophy onmicroalgal growth, lipid content, and expression levels of three pathway genes in Chlorella sorokiniana. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 91, 835–844.
- Wang, J., Yin, Y., 2018. Fermentative hydrogen production using pretreated microalgal biomass as feedstock. Microb. Cell Factories 17, 22.
- Wang, X., Liu, X., Wang, G., 2011. Two-stage hydrolysis of invasive algal feedstock for ethanol fermentation. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 53, 246–252.
- Wang, K., Brown, R.C., Homsy, S., Martinez, L., Sidhu, S.S., 2013. Fast pyrolysis of microalgae remnants in a fluidized bed reactor for bio-oil and biochar production. Bioresour. Technol. 127, 494–499.
- Wang, J., Yang, H., Feng, W., 2014. Mixotrophic cultivation of microalgae for biodiesel production: status and prospects. APPL BIOCHEM BIOTECH 172, 3307–3329.
- Wargacki, A.J., Leonard, E., Win, M.N., Regitsky, D.D., Santos, C.N.S., Kim, P.B., Cooper, S.R., Raisner, R.M., Herman, A., Sivitz, A.B., Lakshmanaswamy, A., 2012. An engineered microbial platform for direct biofuel production from brown macroalgae. Science 335, 308–313.

- Westman, J.O., Wang, R., Novy, V., Franzén, C.J., 2017. Sustaining fermentation in highgravity ethanol production by feeding yeast to a temperature-profiled multifeed simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of wheat straw. Biotechnol Biofuels 10, 213.
- Wieczorek, N., Kucuker, M.A., Kuchta, K., 2014. Fermentative hydrogen and methane production from microalgal biomass (Chlorella vulgaris) in a two-stage combined process. Appl. Energy 132, 108–117.
- Wu, N., Moreira, C., Zhang, Y., Doan, N., Yang, S., Phlips, E., Svoronos, S., Pullammanappallil, P., 2019. Techno-economic analysis of biogas production from microalgae through anaerobic digestion. Biogas. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/ 10.5772/intechopen.86090.
- Xia, A., Cheng, J., Murphy, J.D., 2016. Innovation in biological production and upgrading of methane and hydrogen for use as gaseous transport biofuel. Biotechnol. Adv. 34, 451–472.
- Xiong, X., Yu, I.K.M., Cao, L., Tsang, D.C.W., Zhang, S., Ok, Y.S., 2017. A review of biocharbased catalysts for chemical synthesis, biofuel production, and pollution control. Bioresour. Technol. 246, 254–270.
- Xiros, C., Topakas, E., Christakopoulos, P., 2013. Hydrolysis and fermentation for cellulosic ethanol production. WIRES ENERGY ENVIRON 2, 633–654.
- Xu, Y.P., Duan, P.G., Wang, F., Guan, Q.Q., 2018. Liquid fuel generation from algal biomass via a two-step process: effect of feedstocks. Biotechnol Biofuels 11, 83.
- Yanagisawa, M., Nakamura, K., Ariga, O., Nakasaki, K., 2011. Production of high concentrations of bioethanol from seaweeds that contain easily hydrolyzable polysaccharides. Process Biochem. 46, 2111–2116.
- Yang, Z.M., Guo, R.B., Xu, X.H., Fan, X.L., Li, X.P., 2010. Enhanced hydrogen production from lipid-extracted microalgal biomass residues through pretreatment. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 35, 9618–9623.
- Yu, I.K.M., Tsang, D.C.W., 2017. Conversion of biomass to hydroxymethylfurfural: a review of catalytic systems and underlying mechanisms. Bioresour. Technol. 238, 716–732.
- Yu, K.L., Lau, B.F., Show, P.L., Ong, H.C., Ling, T.C., Chen, W.H., Ng, E.P., Chang, J.S., 2017. Recent developments on algal biochar production and characterization. Bioresour. Technol. 246, 2–11.

- Yu, I.K.M., Xiong, X., Tsang, D.C.W., Wang, L., Hunt, A.J., Song, H., Shang, J., Ok, Y.S., Poon, C.S., 2019. Aluminium-biochar composite as a sustainable heterogeneous catalyst for glucose isomerization in biorefinery. Green Chem. 21, 1267–1281.
- Yuan, T., Li, X., Xiao, S., Guo, Y., Zhou, W., Xu, J., Yuan, Z., 2016. Microalgae pretreatment with liquid hot water to enhance enzymatic hydrolysis efficiency. Bioresour. Technol. 220, 530–536.
- Yun, Y.-M., Kim, D.-H., Oh, Y.-K., Shin, H.-S., Jung, K.-W., 2014. Application of a novel enzymatic pretreatment using crude hydrolytic extracellular enzyme solution to microalgal biomass for dark fermentative hydrogen production. Bioresour. Technol. 159, 365–372.
- Zbinden, M.D.A., Sturm, B.S., Nord, R.D., Carey, W.J., Moore, D., Shinogle, H., Stagg-Williams, S.M., 2013. Pulsed electric field (PEF) as an intensification pretreatment for greener solvent lipid extraction from microalgae. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 110, 1605–1615.
- Zhan, J., Rong, J., Wang, Q., 2017. Mixotrophic cultivation, a preferable microalgae cultivation mode for biomass/bioenergy production, and bioremediation, advances and prospect. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 42, 8505–8517.
- Zhang, L., Bao, Z., Xia, S., Lu, Q., Walters, K., 2018. Catalytic pyrolysis of biomass and polymer wastes. Catalysts 8, 659.
- Zheng, Y., Chi, Z., Lucker, B., Chen, S., 2012. Two-stage heterotrophic and phototrophic culture strategy for algal biomass and lipid production. Bioresour. Technol. 103, 484–488.
- Zheng, H., Guo, W., Li, S., Chen, Y., Wu, Q., Feng, X., Yin, R., Ho, S.-H., Ren, N., Chang, J.-S., 2017. Adsorption of p-nitrophenols (PNP) on microalgal biochar: analysis of high adsorption capacity and mechanism. Bioresour. Technol. 244, 1456–1464.
- Zhou, N., Zhang, Y., Wu, X., Gong, X., Wang, Q., 2011. Hydrolysis of Chlorella biomass for fermentable sugars in the presence of HCl and MgCl₂. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 10158–10161.
- Zhou, J., Zhang, F., Meng, H., Bao, G., Zhang, Y., Li, Y., 2014. Development of a silicon carbide disruption method enables efficient extraction of proteins from cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. Process Biochem. 49, 2199–2202.